
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel A

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on 

Monday 5 March 2018

Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman) Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor S H Brown (Vice-Chairman) Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor L A Canham Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor M I Peters
Councillor B Garden Councillor B E Read
Councillor J S Hawkes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor B K Kaini Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor M B Kelly Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor R Lees Councillor D Swinerd

Cabinet
A meeting of the above will be held on 

Thursday 8 March 2018

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman)

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE

Councillor P F Coleman Councillor K M Kelly Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET ADVISORY PANEL A 
Monday 5 March 2018

CABINET
Thursday 8 March 2018

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 25 January 
2018 (Pages 1 - 6)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 5 
March 2018 
To follow 

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage. 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Refuse Collection and Street Cleansing Contract 2019 to 2024 
(Pages 7 - 10)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. This is a Key Decision as the Council:

(a) will incur expenditure or savings beyond the threshold 
agreed by the Council; and

(b) the proposal to tender for the refuse collection and street 
cleansing contract is significant in terms of its effects on 
communities living or working in an area of the Borough 



comprising two or more wards.

2. To advise Cabinet of the results of the third Big Bin Vote.

3. To consequently recommend a revised plan for the 
procurement of the next contract for refuse collection and 
street cleansing.

Recommendations:

1. That the results of the third Big Bin Vote as outlined in para. 
3.2 of the report, be noted.

2. That the revised plan for the procurement of the next contract 
for refuse collection and street cleansing, as outlined in para. 
3.6 and 3.8 of the report, be agreed.

3. That the Strategic Director (External Services) be authorised to 
retender the Council’s contract for refuse collection and street 
cleansing services.

4. That, following completion of the procurement process, a 
further report be submitted seeking approval to award the new 
contract for a five year term, commencing 1 July 2019. 

8. Draft Homeless Strategy 2018 - 2023 (Pages 11 - 30) SD (ES)
Summary:

1. This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects 
on communities living or working in an area of the Borough 
comprising two or more wards.

2. The Homelessness Act 2002 requires local housing authorities 
to carry out a review of homelessness in their district at least 
every five years. The aim of the review is to inform, develop 
and publish a Homeless Strategy. 

3. A review of homelessness was carried out in 2017 and a new 
Homeless Strategy 2018 - 2023 has been drafted.

4. This report presents the draft Homeless Strategy 2018 - 2023.

Recommendations:

1. That Cabinet approve the draft Homeless Strategy 2018 - 
2023 for consultation purposes. 

2. That, following consultation, delegated authority be given to 
the Strategic Director for External Services, to approve any 



minor amendments to the draft Strategy prior to publication.

3. That, following consultation, Cabinet approve any major 
amendments prior to publication. 

9. Response to Consultation on Proposals to Tackle Crime and 
Poor Performance in the Waste Sector and Introduce a New 
Fixed Penalty for Waste Duty of Care (Pages 31 - 44)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. This report brings to Members’ attention the Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs proposals to tackle crime 
and poor performance in the waste sector and introduce a new 
fixed penalty for waste duty of care. The consultation is divided 
into three sections:

 Part A focuses on raising the standard of operator 
competence across all permitted waste sites by 
strengthening the regulators’ assessment and enforcement 
abilities;

 Part B is about reforming the waste exemptions regime 
within the waste permitting system;

 Part C covers the introduction of a new Fixed Penalty 
Notice (FPN) for household Duty of Care offences for fly-
tipping.

2. This report summarises the proposals in Section C only of the 
consultation paper and sets out the Council’s suggested (draft) 
response to this part of the consultation. Defra notes that the 
target audience for the consultation is wide ranging and 
accepts that not all recipients will wish, or be in a position to 
respond to all 3 parts. The only part applicable to the Council 
is Part C which looks at the introduction of FPNs for Duty of 
Care offences , parts A and B deal with issues at waste sites 
and with permits and are outside the Council’s jurisdiction , 
therefore, these have not been responded to.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet approves, or amends, the proposed response to 
the consultation as set out in Appendix A to the report. 



10. Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Consultations Response 
(Pages 45 - 58)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. Consultation on the partial review of the Kent Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan July 2016, covering the period 2013 to 2030, 
is now taking place. Alongside this, the first stage of public 
consultation on a Minerals Sites Local Plan, identifying specific 
allocations for future minerals extraction, is being undertaken. 

2. Policy changes are proposed in the partial review, and specific 
minerals sites are proposed in the Minerals Sites Local Plan. 
The policies and proposals, as currently drafted are expected to 
have significant impacts on the Borough.

Recommendation:

That the consultation response to Kent County Council, as set 
out in Appendix A, be approved. 

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

11. Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates (Pages 59 - 64) SD (IS)
Summary:

To consider writing-off Non Domestic Rate debts where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment because of insolvency, 
because the ratepayer cannot be traced or where the debt is 
otherwise irrecoverable.

Recommendation:

That the sums shown on Appendix A in the confidential part of 
the report, amounting to £103,572.42 be written off as 
uncollectible. 

C - Items for Information, noting, endorsing

12. Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators 
Monitoring Report (Pages 65 - 84)

SD (IS)

Summary:

This report provides the progress with the latest set of 
Corporate Plan key actions and performance indicators for 
quarter 3 of 2017-18.



Recommendation:

That Members note the contents of the key action and 
performance indicator monitoring reports attached at 
Appendices A and B. 

13. Minutes of the Policy Overview Meeting held on 12 December 
2017 (Pages 85 - 96)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To present to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 12 December 2017.

Recommendation:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview 
Committee held on 12 December 2017, be considered and 
noted. 

Exclusion of the Press and Public

TO RESOLVE: That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information.

D - Items for Consideration in Private

Confidential Appendices

A. Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates - Exempt Appendix A
(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3) (Pages 97 
- 98)

SD (IS)





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 25 January 2018 at 7.00 
pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Derek E Hunnisett

97. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

98. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

99. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 7 
DECEMBER 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 7 December 2017 be 
confirmed.

100. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

101. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 22 JANUARY 2018 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 22 
January 2018 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

102. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

103. CONSULTATION BY MAYOR OF LONDON: DRAFT LONDON PLAN 

This report was produced in response to a consultation on a new London Plan 
by the Mayor of London. This new London Plan had been drafted to introduce 
new strategic planning policies, including targets for increased house building, 
and policies related to the relationship between development and 



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 JANUARY 2018

2

infrastructure within Greater London and the surrounding ‘wider south east’ 
regions.

The Head of Regeneration referred to the impact that the Plan would have on 
Dartford and said that they welcomed the proposed increased levels of 
collaboration and noted that associated meetings were already being 
arranged and held. She said that the London Mayor was not intending to force 
Local Authorities outside London to accommodate some of London’s housing 
need, but was looking to work with willing partners outside London to deliver 
the identified levels of housing required. She said that the Plan anticipated 
that London would largely be able to meet its housing need within its 
boundary but noted that the housing targets set out in the Plan were 1000 
homes a year less than had been forecast as being required. She then said 
that the proposed approach to meeting housing delivery through an emphasis 
on small sites raised issues. She said that the cumulative increases in 
population growth through small site development can cause issues when 
identifying sites for supporting infrastructure (e.g. new schools). This creates 
direct impacts for Dartford when the population growth, without supporting 
infrastructure, is close to the Dartford’s boundary (i.e. in Bexley).

The Head of Regeneration then drew Members’ attention to the proposed 
response to the Plan’s Green Belt related policy and the fact that London 
Boroughs were being given no flexibility to consider the de-designation of 
Green Belt areas when considering how to meet future housing need through 
their Local Plan preparation. She said that there was a risk may that they may 
not be able to meet their housing targets, leading to pressure on other Green 
Belt areas in the South East outside London to address this unmet need. She 
noted how this went against National Policy which stated that Green Belt 
boundaries should be reviewed whenever a Local Authority’s Local Plan is 
reviewed. The Chairman questioned the way that this response had been 
worded and asked that it be revised to ask that London Boroughs be required 
to follow National Policy and consider Green Belt boundaries when preparing 
or reviewing their Local Plans.

The Head of Regeneration then noted how consideration of the Plan by the 
wider South East was still ongoing and said that it may be necessary to revise 
the proposed response further if other areas of concern or interest are 
identified.

Members echoed the concern expressed relating to the development of small 
sites and referred to the number of residents from Bexley who make use of 
Dartford’s schools and medical facilities and the associated impact that their 
traffic movements have on congestion and parking availability.

With the Chairman’s permission the Chairman of Development Control Board, 
who was present at the meeting, asked how differences between National 
Policy and those defined within the London Plan would be addressed. The 
Head of Regeneration replied that the Plan would be subject to public 
examination and anticipated that the Inspector would focus on any areas of 
conflict.



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 JANUARY 2018

3

In response to a question on the London Mayor’s ability to comment on 
Dartford’s Local Plan, and the fact that he should only do this judiciously and 
with restraint, the Head of Regeneration advised that the London Mayor had 
prepared his own housing need related technical evidence for the whole 
country and would be referring to this data, rather than the Government’s 
housing need data, when reviewing the Local Plans of other Local Authorities. 
She said that this could cause him to raise objections on housing targets 
when they did not accord with his own methodology and evidence. Members 
hoped that the Inspector would identify where the data being used for a 
particular argument conflicted with Government provided data and disregard 
any associated comments accordingly.

Members agreed the proposed changes to the draft response and endorsed 
the Managing Director’s proposal that the Leader be added as a consultee 
when the response is finalised.

RESOLVED:

That a response be submitted by the Head of Regeneration, in consultation 
with the Leader and the Chairman of Development Control Board, based on 
the draft response set out in Appendix A to the report, as amended by the 
above minute.

104. DRAFT BETTER CARE FUND DISCRETIONARY ASSISTANCE POLICY 

The Better Care Fund allows discretionary financial assistance to be provided 
by a Local Authority to enable residents to leave hospital and return to a 
suitable home environment; thus reducing bed blocking. Dartford Borough 
Council receives Better Care Funding from the Government to enable it to 
assist vulnerable client groups. This report provided examples of real life 
scenarios, and proposed a draft Better Care Fund Discretionary Assistance 
Policy that will assist this client group, by allowing the Council to fully utilise its 
Better Care Funding. The Policy was also aimed at preventing 
admissions/readmissions to hospital by providing funding to eligible 
households for, for example, essential repairs or heating installation, which, if 
not carried out, may have a detrimental impact on their health and wellbeing.

The Strategic Director (External Services) noted how the report had also 
asked that the Discretionary Assistance Grant threshold of £5,000, which had 
previously been agreed when an associated report had been considered by 
Cabinet in July 2017, be increased to £7500; and that it also gave her 
delegated authority to make further in-year amendments if considered 
necessary. She also referred to the Cabinet Advisory Panel’s expressions of 
support for the scheme and highlighted the offers that had been made by 
members of the Panel to help promote and publicise the availability of the 
scheme.

Members welcomed the assistance that this scheme would provide and 
endorsed the report’s recommendations.



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 JANUARY 2018

4

RESOLVED:

1. That the draft Better Care Fund Discretionary Assistance Policy, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be approved.

2. That, for the reasons outlined in paragraph 3.3. of the report, an 
increase in the current Discretionary Assistance Grant from £5000 to 
£7500 be approved as the maximum assistance available per approved 
application. 

3. That the Strategic Director (External Services) be granted delegated 
authority to make in-year amendments to the approved Better Care 
Fund Discretionary Assistance Policy, as necessary.

105. REVIEW OF DISCRETIONARY LOCAL BUSINESS RATES RELIEF 
SCHEME 

This report asked Members to review and approve changes to Dartford’s 
Discretionary Local Business Rates Relief Scheme.

The Strategic Director (Internal Services) explained how the Government had 
provided additional funding in March 2017 to help those businesses adversely 
affected by the business rate revaluation exercise but said that only a small 
proportion of the funding available to Dartford businesses had been 
distributed to date due to the low number of applications that had been 
received. She said that, as the Government was keen to see that all of the 
funding is distributed, the report proposed that the maximum relief percentage 
available for 2017/18 to 2020/21 be increased, and that automatic 
applications are submitted for those businesses that are thought to be eligible 
for this and future years.

In response to a question the Strategic Director (Internal Services) said that 
the criteria defined in the Council’s guidelines, which were attached at 
Appendix A to the report, enabled them to identify those businesses that may 
be eligible for the scheme. She also noted how other Local Authorities had 
been experiencing difficulties when attempting to fully distribute the funding 
available.

Members approved the proposed changes to the scheme but also noted how 
the level of relief being made available tapered off in future years.

RESOLVED:

1. That the proposed increase to the maximum percentage relief available 
for 2017/18 to 2020/21 be approved, and the ability for it to be 
retrospectively applied to existing recipients be allowed.

2. That the proposal to make automatic awards for 2017/18 (subject to a 
State Aid declaration) to potential recipients who have not yet claimed 
be approved.



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 JANUARY 2018

5

3. That the proposal to apply relief automatically for 2018/19 to 2020/21 
(subject to a State Aid declaration) be approved.

4. That delegated authority be given to the S151 officer to amend the 
scheme in future years to ensure relief is properly targeted and fully 
utilised for the benefit of ratepayers.

106. NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF 2018/19 

This report asked Members to consider granting discretionary rate relief to 
ratepayers who have made applications in respect of 2018/19.

RESOLVED:

That the level of discretionary rate relief for 2018/19, for the organisations 
listed in Appendix A to the report, be determined in accordance with the 
detailed recommendations set out in that Appendix.

107. PARKING CONSULTATION: LONGFIELD WARD 

Some of the residents of Kent Road and Essex Road, Longfield had reported 
numerous parking related issues. The Council therefore undertook a number 
of consultations on proposals for managing the reported issues culminating in 
a statutory consultation. This report summarised the results of the statutory 
consultation and asked that a number of associated traffic regulation orders 
be approved for implementation.

Having noted the comments that had been made when this item had been 
considered by the Cabinet Advisory Panel the Chairman confirmed with the 
Monitoring Officer that he would not be required to declare a prejudicial 
interest in this item.

The Chairman referred to the Cabinet Advisory Panel’s consideration of the 
process that has to be followed when the potential need for a parking 
management scheme is identified by residents and noted how, since 2012 
when they had resolved to cease the routine introduction of new parking 
controls, each resident driven request had been queued and considered on a 
case by case basis to assess priorities. He then noted how they had 
attempted to deliver 2 schemes a year if possible and said that the scheme in 
the area around Cranford Road, which had been referred to during the debate 
that had taken place at the Cabinet Advisory Panel, had been progressed 
following representations that had been received from both residents and 
local ward Councillors. He then noted how the Council’s resources were now 
being focused on the regeneration of the Town Centre but said that, if 
alternative funding sources could be identified, then outside independent 
experienced consultants could be engaged to bring further parking 
management schemes forward for consideration.

The Chairman then highlighted how Cabinet had been required to apply 
discretion to a number of previous parking schemes because the response 
rate to proposals varied according to the availability of off street parking.  He 



CABINET
THURSDAY 25 JANUARY 2018

6

said that this could lead to greatly differing response rates within parts of the 
same road and that Cabinet needed to take into account the needs of those 
with no parking.  He also noted how this scheme was being specifically 
introduced to address the problems caused by commuter parking not directly 
connected with local residents. He then expressed the view that the 
introduction of parking controls by Gravesham Borough Council around 
Meopham and Sole Street stations may have encouraged commuters to drive 
to, and park in, Longfield before commuting to London.

Members welcomed and endorsed the proposed scheme but asked whether 
displacement could potentially lead to future parking problems in other areas, 
such as around Farningham Road station. The Chairman agreed that 
displacement parking could always lead to problems in other roads but 
thought that the reduced level of service available from Farningham Road 
station may discourage commuters from using that station as an alternative 
starting point.

RESOLVED:

1. That the making of the traffic regulation order in accordance with 
paragraph 3.6 of the report and the implementation of the scheme, be 
approved.

2. That households within the consultation areas be informed of the 
consultation outcome and the applicable installations, subject to the 
traffic regulation order making process.

108. CALENDAR OF MEETINGS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE 
COUNCIL, CABINET, COMMITTEES AND BOARDS 

This report sought Members’ views on the proposed calendar of meetings for 
2018/19 and the provisional calendar for 2019/20.

RESOLVED:

That the proposed calendar of meetings for 2018/19 and the provisional 
calendar of meetings for 2019/20 be submitted to the Annual Meeting of the 
Council.

The meeting closed at 7.39 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

REFUSE COLLECTION AND STREET CLEANSING CONTRACT  
2019 TO 2024

1. Summary

1.1 This is a Key Decision as the Council:

(a) will incur expenditure or savings beyond the threshold agreed by the 
Council; and

(b) the proposal to tender for the refuse collection and street cleansing 
contract is significant in terms of its effects on communities living or 
working in an area of the Borough comprising two or more wards.

1.2 To advise Cabinet of the results of the third Big Bin Vote.

1.3 To consequently recommend a revised plan for the procurement of the next 
contract for refuse collection and street cleansing.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the results of the third Big Bin Vote as outlined in para. 3.2 of the report, 
be noted.

2.2 That the revised plan for the procurement of the next contract for refuse 
collection and street cleansing, as outlined in para. 3.6 and 3.8 of the report, 
be agreed.

2.3 That the Strategic Director (External Services) be authorised to retender the 
Council’s contract for refuse collection and street cleansing services.

2.4 That, following completion of the procurement process, a further report be 
submitted seeking approval to award the new contract for a five year term, 
commencing 1 July 2019.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. A report on the Council’s refuse collection and street cleansing contract 
was submitted to Cabinet on 2 November 2017 [Min. No.61]. The 
report gave background details on these services and suggested a way 
forward with re-procuring the services before the current contract 
expires on 30 June 2019. However, at the time of reporting, the 
Council’s third Big Bin Vote had not been undertaken and the wishes of 
residents as to future waste services were not known.

3.2. The Council’s third Big Bin Vote ran from 5 to 31 December 2017 and a 
total of 2,632 votes were received from residents. Residents were 
asked to choose the level of refuse and recycling service that they 
wished to receive in future. 



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

The results of the vote were:

Basic alternate fortnightly collection service (refuse collected one week, 
recycling collected the other week) – 282 votes/11%

Premium alternate fortnightly collection service (as above but with 
separate fortnightly food waste collections) – 689 votes/26%

Current service – 1,661 votes/63%

3.3. At its meeting of 2 November 2017, Cabinet authorised the Managing 
Director, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to agree the 
service to be provided from 2019 onwards, for the duration of the next 
contract [Min.No.61.1]. Following the wishes of residents as expressed 
in the third Big Bin Vote, it is recommended that the waste service to 
be provided under the next contract from 2019, be the same as 
currently provided.

3.4. The waste service currently provided is: weekly refuse collection in 
green wheeled bins, fortnightly mixed recycling collection in grey 
wheeled bins, fortnightly glass collection in black boxes and optional 
fortnightly garden waste in brown wheeled bins.

3.5. It had previously been suggested and agreed that the best way to 
procure the next contract would be to do so jointly with Tonbridge & 
Malling and Tonbridge Wells Councils. However, as both of these 
authorities wish to provide the premium alternate service in future, the 
benefits of a joint procurement are reduced. Furthermore, whilst this 
Council will retain vehicles that will carry over beyond the current 
contract, the other two authorities do not have any carry over vehicles 
and they therefore have to allow a much longer time for procurement 
as their new vehicles will have to be manufactured.

3.6. It is therefore now recommended that instead of carrying out a joint 
tendering exercise with the other authorities, that this Council 
undertakes its own procurement exercise for the next refuse and 
cleansing contract, without the other two councils. It is also now 
recommended that the next contract be of 5 years duration, as this 
matches the remaining life of the retained carry over vehicles. 

3.7. The current service for street cleaning is four weekly cleaning of 
residential roads, fortnightly cleaning of main roads, daily cleaning of 
town centres and adhoc cleaning of other areas.

3.8. Because of its value, the tender process will have to be carried out 
according to full EU tendering rules. It is now planned that an OJEU 
notice will be published in April 2018 with completed tenders being 
returned in July 2018 and contract award being made in September 
2018, with a start date of 1 July 2019. This will give officers adequate 
time to produce revised tender documentation and carry out 
procurement and it will also give the successful contractor enough time 



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

to arrange staff transfers and other matters before the contract 
commences.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

There are three relevant Strategic Objectives stated in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan:

ET3 – Minimise the amount of waste going to landfill
ET4 – Ensure a high quality street scene
PS1 – Deliver high quality services

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The current value of these services is 
approx. £3m pa - retendering the contract 
carries the risk of increased costs.

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

Crime and Disorder Duty 

The current contract cannot be extended 
again and the Council has a legal duty to 
provide waste collection and cleansing 
services.

It is not anticipated that the services 
provided under the new contract will have 
any adverse effects on any particular 
groups of residents because of its 
flexibility and provisions regarding assisted 
collections and other service adaptations.

It is not anticipated that the services 
provided under the new contract will have 
any adverse effects on crime or disorder in 
the borough.

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

None.



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Dave Thomas
(01322) 343273

Waste and 
Parks, 
Strategic 
(External)

N/A



CABINET 
8 MARCH 2018 

 

DRAFT HOMELESS STRATEGY 2018-2023 
 
1. Summary 

 

1.1 This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects on communities 
living or working in an area of the Borough comprising two or more wards. 

 
1.2 The Homelessness Act 2002 requires local housing authorities to carry out a 

review of homelessness in their district at least every five years. The aim of 
the review is to inform, develop and publish a Homeless Strategy.  

 
1.3 A review of homelessness was carried out in 2017 and a new Homeless 

Strategy 2018-2023 has been drafted. 
 

1.4 This report presents the draft Homeless Strategy 2018 – 2023. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 That Cabinet approve the draft Homeless Strategy 2018-2023 for consultation 
purposes.  
 

2.2 That, following consultation, delegated authority be given to the Strategic 
Director for External Services, to approve any minor amendments to the draft 
Strategy prior to publication. 

 
2.3 That, following consultation, Cabinet approve any major amendments prior to 

publication. 
 

 
Background and Discussion 

 

3.1. Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 places a duty on local housing authorities to 
provide advice and assistance to homeless people and people threatened with 
homelessness in their district. The Housing Options and Private Sector team 
within the Housing Service carries out this duty. 

 
3.2. In order that a strategic approach is taken towards the Council’s delivery of 

homelessness advice and assistance, the Housing Service undertakes a review 
of homelessness and then produces a Homeless Strategy every three years in 
line with the requirements of the Homelessness Act 2002. (A copy of the full 
Homelessness Review report is available to view on line at 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-
documents and is available on request).  

3.3. The new Homeless Strategy 2018-2023 is attached at Appendix A. The aim of 
the Strategy is to “proactively prevent homelessness through strong partnership 
working, and to provide an inclusive and accessible service to all”. 

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-documents


CABINET 
8 MARCH 2018 

 

To make this aim a reality, the Strategy contains five strategic objectives: 

 
• STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE ONE - PREVENTION & RELIEF 

To prevent and relieve homelessness wherever possible in line 
with the requirements of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
(HRA 2017).  

 
• STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE TWO – ACCOMMODATION 

To provide a range of accommodation for homeless 
households, making innovative use of solutions in the private 
sector.  

 
• STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE THREE -  PARTNERSHIP 

WORKING    
To work with local organisations to provide a coordinated 
approach to tackling and preventing homelessness.  
  

• STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE FOUR – MONITORING 
To keep up to date with homelessness trends, customer 
satisfaction, Government policy, legislation and good practice.
  

3.4. The Strategy contains specific actions that will be taken to tackle the key 
issues for each objective contained in the Action Plan at Annex A.  

 
3.5. Consultation on the new Homeless Strategy 

 
Following approval of the draft Strategy by Cabinet, wider public consultation 
will be carried out and an update on the consultation will be presented to 
Cabinet in due course.  
 

3.6. Monitoring and review of the Homeless Strategy 
 
Progress being made to deliver the Strategy will continue to be monitored by 
the multi-agency Dartford Homeless Strategy Implementation Group (HSIG), 
which was formed under the last Strategy. The aim of this group is for partner 
organisations to come together to drive the implementation of the Strategy. 
The HSIG is open to representatives from Health, Kent County Council Social 
Care, Kent Supporting People, Kent Probation, registered housing providers, 
and voluntary agencies. 
 

3.7. In terms of review, a report detailing progress of delivery will be presented to 
the HSIG on a regular basis to ensure that its actions remain relevant and to 
consider new and emerging issues that need to be tackled. 

 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 

 
 This report relates to the Corporate Plan aim ‘To facilitate quality, choice 

and diversity in the housing market, to create strong and self-reliant 
communities and deliver high quality services to service users’  

 
 



CABINET 
8 MARCH 2018 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and 

risk assessments 
 

Financial Implications Various budgets are in place to support the 
Council’s Homeless Service and Strategy 
including a homelessness prevention budget 
of £107,000. Government funding has moved 
towards a prevention focus but the service 
continues to be under financial pressure as 
spending on temporary accommodation 
continues to be in excess of the available 
budget.  
 

Legal Implications It is a requirement of the Homelessness Act 
2002 for local housing authorities to develop 
and publish a Homeless Strategy. 

Staffing Implications None 
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 

 
Not applicable 

 
7. Appendices 

 
Appendix A – Draft Homeless Strategy 2018 – 2023 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
Documents 
consulted 

 Date / 
File Ref 

Report Authors Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 
 

Homelessness 
Review 2017 

 N/A  Jackie Pye x3683 Housing Services 
Strategic (Ext) 

N/A 

 





1 

DARTFORD 
BOROUGH 
COUNCIL DRAFT 
HOMELESS 
STRATEGY 2018-
2023 

March 2018 

APPENDIX A



2 

 Contents 

Page 

Foreword ............................................................................................................................. 3 

1  Introduction .............................................................................................................. 4 

2  Local Context ........................................................................................................... 6 

3. Homeless Prevention .............................................................................................. 6 

4. Homelessness in Dartford – Key Facts .................................................................. 7 
4.1.  Homeless Decisions and Acceptances ........................................................ 7 
4.2.  Homeless acceptances by priority need category ...................................... 7 
4.3.  Causes of Homelessness .............................................................................. 8 
4.4.  Numbers in Temporary Accommodation ..................................................... 9 
4.5.  Single Homeless/Rough Sleepers .............................................................. 10 

5. The Findings of the Housing Options Review 2017 ............................................ 10 

6. The Objectives for the Strategy ............................................................................ 11 

7. Resources .............................................................................................................. 12 

8. Action Plan ............................................................................................................. 12 

9. Monitoring and Review .......................................................................................... 12 

Annex A – Dartford Homeless Strategy Action Plan ..................................................... 13 



 

 
3  

Foreword 

Dartford Borough Council’s Homeless Strategy 2018-2023 identifies the actions required 
by the Council over the next five years to tackle homelessness in the Borough. 

 
The Strategy has been developed at a challenging time both locally and nationally. The lack 
of suitable housing and a range of welfare reforms has increased the financial pressures on 
both households living within our community and the Borough Council. 

 
In addition, the Council’s Housing Options Team will need to use its resources more effectively 
to meet the increase in housing enquiries and applications that may be caused by the 
introduction of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017.  
 
The team will work closely and pro-actively with stakeholders to prevent homelessness, 
provide timely and appropriate advice and support to people in housing need and ensure that 
suitable temporary accommodation is available if required. 

 
 
 
 



 

 
4  

1 Introduction 

1.1 The Homelessness Act 2002 requires all Councils to formulate a Homeless Strategy 
at least every five years. Councils are also required to carry out a homelessness 
review of their area and produce a strategy to: 

 
 Address the causes of homelessness in the area; 

 Introduce initiatives to prevent homelessness wherever possible; 
 

 Provide sufficient temporary accommodation for those households that are, or 
may become, homeless; and 

 
 Ensure that appropriate support is available for people who have previously 

experienced homelessness in order to prevent it happening again. 
 

1.2 This new Strategy has been developed in response to a review of homelessness 
carried out in 2017, sets out a plan of action to enable the Council to deliver a robust 
response to its responsibilities to homeless households in the Borough, and defines 
the strategic approach to homelessness in the Borough for the next five years.  The 
Strategy has been condensed from previous versions to concentrate more fully on key 
facts and robust actions to deliver it more efficiently and effectively. 
 

1.3 The key findings of the homelessness review were: 
 

 Despite a long period where the number of homeless decisions and acceptances 
were generally decreasing, this trend is showing signs of shifting, as there were 
twice as many applications and acceptances made in 2014/15 than the previous 
year; although this mainly stabilised in 2017.  

 

 781 decisions were made in the period 2014 to 2017.  Of these 498 households 
were accepted under the main homelessness duty (they were eligible, 
unintentionally homeless and in priority need). 

 

 The primary priority need category for applicants accepted under the main 
homelessness duty continues to be because the applicant has dependent children, 
mainly in a lone parent household.  This is followed by the applicant being 
vulnerable because of mental illness and vulnerable because of a physical disability.  

 

 The majority of applicants accepted the main homelessness duty were from a white 
ethnic group and aged between 16 and 44 years old. 

 

 The main reason for homelessness is loss of tied or rented accommodation in the 
private rented sector, mainly because of the termination of an assured shorthold 
tenancy. This cause of homelessness has increased significantly since the last 
review. Parents, relatives or friends no longer willing to accommodate is now the 
second highest cause of homelessness followed by violent breakdown of a 
relationship. 

 
 

 A total of 189 homelessness preventions and relief took place outside of the 



 

 
5  

statutory homeless framework. The number of homelessness preventions and relief 
has remained relatively stable over the last three years.  

 

 The levels of homeless households placed into temporary accommodation is 
steadily increasing with more households in temporary accommodation at the end 
of quarter 4 in 2016/17 than previous quarters. This increase in the use of temporary 
accommodation is mainly due to the lack of suitable accommodation in the private 
rented sector.   

 
 Factors surrounding rising housing costs and the difficulty of procuring private 

rented accommodation, have contributed to the rising numbers of homeless 
households in temporary accommodation. A lack of available private sector 
accommodation in the borough has resulted in a growing proportion of homeless 
households being accommodated in another borough. 

 
 There were 9 rough sleepers identified on a given night in 2017/18 and 2016/2017, 

compared to 10 in 2015/2016 and 19 in 2014/2015.   
 
 Resources for funding the Council’s approach towards preventing and tackling 

homelessness through the Homelessness Prevention Grant and New Burden’s 
funding has been agreed up to 2020.   

 
1.4 The Government, in response to concerns about increasing homelessness nationally, 

has introduced a number of measures over the last few years to tackle homelessness 
including: 

 
 No second night out – which includes funding to prevent rough sleeping 

and encourage reporting. 
 

 The Localism Act 2011 – introduced the ability for local 
authorities to discharge the homelessness duty in the private 
rented sector. 

 
 Making every contact count – outlining a series of commitments from 

across Government departments to prevent homelessness. 
 

 The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 – The  Act  2017 will place new legal 
 duties on English councils so that everyone who is homeless or at risk of 
 homelessness will have access to meaningful help, irrespective of their 
priority need status, as long as they are eligible for assistance. 

 

1.5 Alongside this framework, the Government is also implementing widespread and 
significant welfare reforms, including the roll out of Universal Credit.  

 
1.6 With an emphasis in the draft Housing and Planning Bill on home ownership and with a 

Right to Buy for housing association tenants there is a significant challenge ahead to 
ensure there is provision for those who are struggling to pay high rent in the private 
sector and who are not able to afford to get on the homeownership ladder. 

 
 



 

 
6  

2 Local Context 

2.1 The Council’s vision is to make Dartford “the place of quality and choice, a place where 
people choose to live, work and enjoy their leisure time”. 
 

2.2 The Council’s corporate priority for housing is: 
 
‘TO FACILITATE QUALITY, CHOICE AND DIVERSITY IN THE HOUSING 
MARKET, TO CREATE STRONG AND SELF RELIANT COMMUNITIES AND 
DELIVER HIGH QUALITY SERVICES TO SERVICE USERS’ 
 

2.3 By tackling homelessness in the Borough, this Strategy aims to improve the quality 
of life for its most vulnerable residents thus meeting the Council’s aims and 
objectives. 

3. Homeless Prevention 

3.1 The Council tries where possible to prevent homelessness with the main prevention 
activity being assistance in the private rented sector.  Spend in this area includes 
deposits and rent in advance, loans and the Deposit Guarantee Scheme.  Spend so 
far in 2017/18 is £84,407.  
 

3.2 The Council has developed an innovative Homeless Prevention Hub that will be sited 
within the Council Offices by the time the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 is 
implemented in April 2018.  The Hub will be made up of a number of agencies to 
ensure that homelessness is prevented as far as possible by providing a joined up 
approach to each homeless situation.  The agencies that are to be included in the 
Hub are: 

 
 Department for Work and Pensions 
 Revenues & Benefits 
 Citizens Advice Bureau 
 Porchlight 
 Mental Health (primary & secondary) 
 Specialist Children’s Services & Early Help 
 Housing Options Team. 

 
3.3 Some examples of homeless prevention initiatives and outcomes that have been 

implemented or achieved are:  
 

 No 16/17 year olds placed in bed and breakfast accommodation since 
2011 

 189 cases where positive action was successful in preventing or relieving  
homelessness  

 Introduction of Joint Housing Panels with KCC and relevant providers to 
enable faster access into supported accommodation in Dartford 

 Introduction of a dedicated homeless service, in partnership with 
Porchlight, which enables single homeless persons to consider a wide 
range of housing options at a weekly drop in based at the council offices. 
 
 



7 

 Provision of funding to a winter shelter, based in the borough, to enable
homeless persons to access warm and secure accommodation in the
winter months.

3.4 A full list of achievements since the last Homeless Strategy was published can be 
found in the Homelessness Review document in the updated action plan.  A copy of 
the full Homelessness Review report is available to view on line at 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-
documents 

4. Homelessness in Dartford – Key Facts

Below are some key facts relating to homelessness in Dartford.  A full profile can be found
in the Homeless Review document that is available on request or on the Council’s website
at https://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/housing2/housing-strategy-and-policy-
documents

4.1. Homeless Decisions and Acceptances 

 The number of homeless decisions and acceptances in the last three years is shown in 
the chart below. Decisions generally followed a declining trend until 2014/15 where a 
clear increase can be seen; with twice as many decisions made in 2014/15 than the 
previous year. Acceptances also increased, however, the increase in decisions and 
acceptances may be partly due to new case management software, which has resulted 
in improved recording mechanisms.  However, as can be seen, decisions and 
acceptances have started to decline in recent years. 

Chart 1 - Homeless decisions and acceptances – 2014/15 to 2016/17

4.2. Homeless acceptances by priority need category 

Between 2014 and 2017, the main priority need category for applicants accepted a full 
homelessness duty was households with dependent children. This category represented 
just over two thirds of cases, which is consistent with previous reviews and reported 
nationally.  

The second highest priority need category was households who were vulnerable because 
of mental illness followed by households vulnerable because of a physical disability.  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Decisions

Accepted



 

 
8  

   Chart 2 - Homeless acceptances by priority need category – 2014/2015 – 2016/2017 

 
 
4.3. Causes of Homelessness 

The main reason for homelessness for households owed a main homelessness duty over 
the last three years is the loss of rented or tied accommodation in the private rented 
sector.  Nationally this is also the most frequently occurring reason for the loss of last 
settled home. The main cause of the loss of private rented accommodation is the 
termination of an assured shorthold tenancy (AST). The main reason for termination is 
usually that the landlord wants the property returned. Only a small proportion of 
terminations are due to rent arrears.  

The second highest reason for homelessness is that parents, relatives or friends are no 
longer willing to accommodate. The third highest is violence.  This can involve a partner 
or associated person, be racially motivated or other forms. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     
 
 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17



9 

  Chart 3 -  Causes of homelessness – 2014/2015 to 2016/2017 

4.4. Numbers in Temporary Accommodation 

If a main homelessness duty is owed, the applicant may have to be placed into temporary 
accommodation before an offer of settled accommodation is made.  

The local authority may also place applicants into temporary accommodation under an 
interim duty to accommodate, (pending a decision as to whether a main homelessness 
duty is owed); if they have reason to believe the applicant may be homeless, eligible for 
assistance and in priority need. 

The definition of TA includes nightly paid accommodation (Bed & Breakfast, privately 
managed accommodation with shared facilities or self-contained accommodation), 
hostels, local authority/private registered provider stock, leased properties and other 
stock. 

The number of households placed in TA has steadily increased since 2014 the main 
reason being the lack of suitable move-on accommodation in the private rented sector.  
At the end of quarter 4, 2017 there were 108 households placed in TA, compared to 52 
in the same quarter in 2014.   

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Le
ft
 F
o
rc
es

Le
ft
 H
o
sp
it
al

Le
ft
 o
th
er
 in

st
it
u
ti
o
n
 o
r 
LA

…

Le
ft
 P
ri
so
n
 O
n
 R
em

an
d

Lo
ca
l a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 o
r 
o
th
er
…

M
o
rt
ga
ge
 A
rr
ea
rs

N
o
n
 V
io
le
n
t 
B
re
ak
d
o
w
n

O
th
er

O
th
er
 H
ar
as
sm

en
t

O
th
er
 V
io
le
n
ce

P
ar
en

ts
 N
o
t 
W
ill
in
g

P
ri
va
te
 R
en

t 
A
rr
ea
rs

R
ac
ia
lly
 m

o
ti
va
te
d
 v
io
le
n
ce

R
ea
so
n
s 
o
th
er
 t
h
an

…

R
el
at
iv
es
 N
o
t 
W
ill
in
g

R
eq

u
ir
ed

 t
o
 le
av
e…

R
SL
 R
en

t 
A
rr
ea
rs

Te
rm

 O
f 
A
ST

V
io
le
n
ce
 O
th
r 
P
er
so
n

V
io
le
n
t 
P
ar
tn
er

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17



 

 
10  

 
Chart 4 -  Numbers in all types of temporary accommodation 2014/2015 – 2016/2017 

 
 

The Council does not place homeless households into shared accommodation unless it 
is absolutely necessary. The types of temporary accommodation used are either nightly 
paid, privately managed accommodation (either self-contained or with shared facilities) 
or accommodation within the Council’s own stock.  

 
The length of time spent in temporary accommodation largely depends on the availability 
of suitable accommodation in the borough. The aim is to minimise the length of time spent 
in temporary accommodation, particularly for households with dependent 
children/pregnant women and 16/17 year olds. During the review period, there has only 
been one case each of a household with dependent children/pregnant woman and a 
16/17 year old being in temporary accommodation for longer than six weeks. 

 

4.5. Single Homeless/Rough Sleepers 
 

The Council carried out a rough sleeper count in November 2017. There were an 
estimated nine people sleeping rough in Dartford on the night surveyed.  This will 
continue to be monitored annually. 

5. The Findings of the Housing Options Review 2017 

5.1. The Council carried out a review of the service in 2017.  Associates visited the Council, 
met with a number of staff, carried out a desktop review of strategic documents and 
provided a summary report for the Council. 

 
5.2. The key areas identified by the service review as they relate to homelessness were: 
 

 To consider restructuring the Housing Options team to better deliver the 
requirements of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017. 

 To implement a recovery plan to reduce the number of households in temporary 
accommodation 

 To introduce a triage system to manage the flow of enquiries into the housing 
options team. 

 
5.3. The Council is currently considering these options. 

 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Qtr 1
14/15

Qtr 2
14/15

Qtr 3
14/15

Qtr 4
14/15

Qtr 1
15/16

Qtr 2
15/16

Qtr 3
15/16

Qtr 4
15/16

Qtr 1
16/17

Qtr 2
16/17

Qtr 2
16/17

Qtr 4
16/17



 

 
11  

6. The Objectives for the Strategy 

6.1. This Strategy has taken into account the national context and the findings and 
recommendations of the 2017 Service Review. Wider consultation with partners will 
take place during 2018 following adoption of the draft Homeless Strategy by the 
Council. 

6.2. The vision for the Homeless Strategy remains the same:   

To proactively prevent homelessness through strong partnership 
working and provide an inclusive and accessible service to all 

 
6.3. The Council’s Homeless Strategy strategic priorities are as follows: 

 
 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE ONE - PREVENTION & RELIEF   

To prevent and relieve homelessness wherever possible in line with the 
requirements of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRA 2017).  

 
 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE TWO - ACCOMMODATION   

To provide a range of accommodation for homeless households, making 
innovative use of solutions in the private sector.  

 
 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE THREE -  PARTNERSHIP WORKING    

To work with local organisations to provide a coordinated approach to 
tackling and preventing homelessness.    

 
 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE FOUR - MONITORING    

To keep up to date with homelessness trends, customer satisfaction, 
Government policy, legislation and good practice.     

 

6.4. These objectives are especially relevant in the current climate. The provision of pro-
active services to help households avoid homelessness altogether or minimise the 
detrimental effects, should homelessness be unavoidable, remain at the heart of what 
the Council aims to achieve for the residents of the Borough. 

6.5. The challenge going forward will be to continue the successful homeless prevention 
measures, especially for households dependent on welfare benefits who find it more 
difficult to afford private rents or access home ownership. There is a need to adapt 
existing homelessness prevention measures and create new responses to meet the 
increased need, especially in light of the implementation of the Homeless Reduction Act 
2017. 

6.6. The Council recognises the social hardship that homelessness has on the households 
affected. It also recognises that there is a monetary cost to households as well as to 
the Council via its statutory duties towards the homeless. 

6.7. Many of the services and initiatives provided by the Council can offer better value for 
money in terms of preventing homelessness compared to dealing with the aftermath of 
actual homelessness.  



 

 
12  

7. Resources 

7.1. At the current time, the cost of the service is approaching a net cost of £150,000 
for temporary accommodation, being paid from the Council’s General Fund. 

7.2. A Homelessness Grant of £106,500 is received from central government each year. 
This Strategy will be resourced by using this grant in a more pro-active approach to 
deliver the initiatives proposed. 

7.3. The Council was allocated £139,239 of New Burdens Funding ahead of the 
implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 in April 2018.   

8. Action Plan 

8.1. The Action Plan developed to deliver this Homeless Strategy is attached at Annex A. 
The actions for the first one to two years are included. It is expected that during year 
three (2021/22) a review of progress on these actions will be undertaken and fresh 
actions added in line with the over-arching objectives of the Strategy. 

9. Monitoring and Review 

9.1. Dartford Borough Council will deliver this Strategy in partnership with a number of 
partner organisations including housing associations, Kent County Council, 
Shelter, the YMCA and Porchlight etc. 

9.2. Monitoring will take place quarterly by senior officers, in collaboration with partners, 
as part of the council-led Homeless Strategy Implementation Group.  



 

13 
 

 

Annex A – Dartford Homeless Strategy Action Plan 
 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE ONE - PREVENTION & RELIEF 

To prevent and relieve homelessness wherever possible in line with the requirements of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
(HRA 2017) 

No Task Target 

1a Review the website to ensure that advice and information is available on housing and preventing homelessness, 
securing accommodation, the help that is available and on the rights of homeless persons 

May 2018 

1b Produce information leaflets that can be sent to customers or downloaded from the website for specific client 
groups at risk of homelessness, in line with s179 of the HRA 2017 

May 2018 

1c Develop packs for customers that provide comprehensive information on their housing options including rental 
market data. 

May 2018 

1d Develop a triage system that will manage the demand on the service and ensure that applications are proactively 
responded to that will maximise prevention opportunities 

June 2018 

1e Review the structure of the Housing Options & Private Sector Team to ensure that it is in a position to meet the 
demand as a result of the HRA 2017 and to maximise prevention opportunities 

April 2018 

1f Implement new IT systems that can assist with meeting the requirements of the HRA 2017.   June 2018 

1g Review all outgoing correspondence to ensure it meets the requirements of the HRA 2017 June 2018 

1i Develop a referral mechanism so all relevant partners and agencies can refer in customers that may be at risk 
of homelessness  

September 
2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

14 
 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE TWO - ACCOMMODATION 

 To provide a range of accommodation for homeless households, making innovative use of solutions in the private sector 

2a Develop a new Rent Guarantee Scheme to support low income households to access the private rented sector December 2018 

2b Review the current Deposit Guarantee Scheme and implement any improvements identified through the review December 2019 

2c Develop a landlord package and options to support low-income households to access the private rented sector 
and encourage partnership working with private sector landlords. 

December 2018 

2d Ensure there is a regular agenda item at the  Landlord Forum to develop relationships with local landlords  On going 

2e Explore maximising the use of Housing Association properties to discharge functions under the HRA 2017 On going 

2f Work proactively with the YMCA to explore opportunities to maximise access to suitable housing for local people  December 2018 

2g Review the Housing Allocations' Policy to ensure that the Council's duties are met under the HRA 2017 June 2018 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE THREE -  PARTNERSHIP WORKING  

To work with local organisations to provide a coordinated approach to tackling and preventing homelessness  

3a Implement a multi-agency hub, based in the Council offices, to mitigate the impact of the HRA 2017 June 2018 

3b Facilitate regular meetings with Dartford Revenues & Benefits team to make use of the Discretionary Housing 
Payment pot 

Quarterly 

3c Ensure that the pre-eviction protocols are being utilised by the Housing Management team and partner Housing 
Associations 

On going 

3d Look for more affordable and cost effective housing solutions to the use of temporary accommodation On going 



 

15 
 

3e Lead on the steering group for the One Stop Shop for Domestic Abuse and ensure there are regular reviews On going 

3f Attend the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) to ensure high risk victims of domestic abuse 
are appropriately housed and supported.  

Bi-weekly 

3g Attend the North Kent Domestic Abuse Forum to ensure a joined up approach for victims of domestic abuse. Bi-monthly 

3h Attend relevant Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) and MAPPA Housing Panel meetings 
to identify and minimise potential risks to the authority 

On going 

3i Review the Young Person's Team processes with Kent County Council and YMCA, including the use of the 
crash pad based at the YMCA. 

December 2019 

3j Participate in Joint Housing Panels (KCC and relevant providers) to enable access to supported accommodation 
in the district  

Monthly 

3k Develop an accessible Referrals Module on Locata and maximise participation from partner organisations to 
prevent homelessness 

January 2020 

3l Attend the Kent Housing Options Group (KHOG) and continue to look at opportunities for partnership working 
across Kent 

Quarterly 

3m Continue to work with the Winter Shelter in Dartford to look at housing solutions for rough sleepers in Dartford  On going 

3n Review the Porchlight Service Level Agreement for the single persons' service and ensure it meets the demands 
of the HRA 2017 

June 2018 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE FOUR - MONITORING  

To keep up to date with homelessness trends, customer satisfaction, Government policy, legislation and good practice  

4a Keep up to date with government policy, legislative changes and good practice in the area of homelessness 
and disseminate this to partners 

On going 

4b Use new Homelessness Case Level Information Classification (H-CLIC) data to monitor and analyse homeless 
trends in the district. (new system to replace Government P1E statistical returns).  

Quarterly 

4c Review the Housing Options service following the implementation of the HRA2017  September 
2019 



16 

4d Monitor out of London placements and participate in meetings with London Boroughs, KCC and other relevant 
organisations to discuss any ongoing issues 

On going 

4e Annually evaluate the extent of rough sleeping in Dartford by carrying out a rough sleeper estimate.  Annually 

4f Collect satisfaction feedback from service users  Annually 

4g Carry out a mystery shopping exercise on the homelessness service January 2019 



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION ON PROPOSALS TO TACKLE 
CRIME AND POOR PERFORMANCE IN THE WASTE SECTOR AND 
INTRODUCE A NEW FIXED PENALTY FOR WASTE DUTY OF 
CARE 

1. Summary

1.1 This report brings to Members’ attention the Department for Environment, Food 
and Rural Affairs proposals to tackle crime and poor performance in the waste 
sector and introduce a new fixed penalty for waste duty of care. The 
consultation is divided into three sections:

 Part A focuses on raising the standard of operator competence across all 
permitted waste sites by strengthening the regulators’ assessment and 
enforcement abilities;

 Part B is about reforming the waste exemptions regime within the waste 
permitting system;

 Part C covers the introduction of a new Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) for 
household Duty of Care offences for fly-tipping.

1.2 This report summarises the proposals in Section C only of the consultation 
paper and sets out the Council’s suggested (draft) response to this part of the 
consultation. Defra notes that the target audience for the consultation is wide 
ranging and accepts that not all recipients will wish, or be in a position to 
respond to all 3 parts. The only part applicable to the Council is Part C which 
looks at the introduction of FPNs for Duty of Care offences , parts A and B deal 
with issues at waste sites and with permits and are outside the Council’s 
jurisdiction , therefore, these have not been responded to.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That Cabinet approves, or amends, the proposed response to the consultation, 
as set out in Appendix A to the report.  

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. In the last few years, DEFRA have taken a number of measures to 
address waste crime and poor performance, for example, by giving 
regulators and the Environment Agency in England new powers to tackle 
waste crime on the ground or giving local authorities the power to issue 
fixed penalty notices for small scale fly-tipping.  

In 2015, a call for evidence asked for views on a number of measures to 
tackle waste crime and poor performance at waste sites. DEFRA have 
since worked with the regulators and stakeholders to develop proposals to 



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

introduce these measures as well as others; Dartford Borough Council 
was one of the first local authorities in the country to introduce the £400 
FPN for Fly Tipping and have been very successful in utilising this option. 

3.2. This consultation is divided into three sections:

 Part A focuses on raising the standard of operator competence across 
all permitted waste sites by strengthening the regulators’ assessment 
and enforcement abilities;

 Part B is about reforming the waste exemptions regime within the 
waste permitting system;

 Part C covers the introduction of a new Fixed Penalty Notice for 
household Duty of Care offences for fly-tipping. 

3.3. Part C: Duty of care fixed penalty notice. This relevant part of the 
consultation (to which this report applies), consists of questions 82 to 99 
respectively. 

3.4. The draft response suggests that householders are generally not aware of 
their duties and responsibilities when passing their waste to an 
unauthorised person and do not, in the main, consider the risk of 
prosecution.

3.5. In order to improve this lack of awareness to prevent the subsequent fly 
tipping of household waste, it is suggested that the Government lead a 
publicity campaign which would involve ALL stakeholders in providing a 
consistent message regarding the offences Householders are at risk of 
committing and the criminal liability associated with such offending. 
Participating agencies should include Local Authorities, The Environment 
Agency, Police, Fire Services as well as relevant private contractors. 
Subsequent publicity of those caught and prosecuted for offences should 
also be encouraged.

3.6. On the question of the Waste Duty of Care Code of Practice providing 
enough guidance on reasonable measures that can be taken to meet the 
household duty of care; the response suggests that there should be more 
emphasis on the seriousness of offending and the consequences of doing 
so. Consideration should be given to producing a bespoke 'Householders 
Waste Duty of Care Guidance' document, rather than it being a small 
constituent part of a more generic document.

3.7. As to the question of any other reasonable measures to meet the 
household duty of care that should be set out in guidance to Households, it 
is felt that Householders should be listed within the guidance along with 
waste carriers as opposed to being mentioned separately. The reference 
that Householders have 'limited' duty of care, whilst it may be so, could be 
taken to imply that the level of seriousness is much less.



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

3.8. The central question of interest to the Council is whether the introduction 
of a FPN for the offence of a householder passing their waste to an 
unauthorised person would help tackle fly-tipping. The proposed response 
reflects Officers’ view that it most definitely would. At the moment the 
Council is obliged to take such cases to court which involves, often, 
lengthy investigations and case building processes. The courts would also 
benefit from having less of these, sometimes, relatively minor cases to 
deal with. In many cases Householders would welcome the opportunity of 
paying a FPN to avoid any formal proceedings and the possibility of a 
criminal conviction. The fine, however, would need to represent the 
seriousness of the offence. 

3.9. It is considered that Government should provide guidance to regulators on 
the use of the proposed FPN as this would provide a consistent message 
in Warning and Informing Householders of their obligations.

3.10. Officers feel that the levels of penalty proposed for this FPN in the 
consultation, illustrated below, are insufficient:

              Offence Default 
penalty

Minimum 
default 
penalty

Maximum 
full 

penalty

Minimum 
discounted 

penalty

Failure of the occupier of a domestic 
property to take all reasonable measures 
to secure that any transfer by them of 
household waste produced on the 
property is to an authorised person.

£200 £150 £400 £120

It is suggested that the default penalty be £400 reduced to £250 if paid 
within 10 days which is consistent with the Council’s penalties for 
Unauthorised depositing of Waste (fly Tipping) contrary to Section 33 
Environmental Protection Act.

3.11. It is agreed that, following implementation of the FPN,  local authorities 
should communicate how frequently they use these penalties and the 
impact on fly-tipping and have stated, within the consultation, that this 
Council already publicises such performance data on its website.

3.12. It is considered that the introduction of this FPN will not impose any 
additional costs on local authorities or other issuing authorities with the 
response noting that it will merely be added to the list of FPN Enforcement 
options available for officers. It should, in fact, save opportunity costs in 
terms of court / case file preparations.

3.13. It is believed that parties other than local authorities and other issuing 
authorities could incur costs or benefit from the introduction of this FPN 
and, in addition, the response suggests that the Police and Environment 
Agency, who already have these powers, rarely use them in our 
experience.



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

3.14. Officers recommend that issuing authorities not offer an appeals process 
for people to dispute a householder duty of care FPN it being felt that the 
process of this FPN needs to be consistent with others within the 
Environmental crime sphere. Issuing authorities would incur additional 
costs by providing an appeals process for people to dispute the issuing of 
a householder duty of care FPN as this would require additional staff 
resource to deal with appeals.

3.15. Officers do not believe that there should be an appeals process available 
and consider that the explanation on the FPN itself should be consistent 
with other similar offences, i.e. 'Failure to pay within 14 days will result in 
legal proceedings being instituted without further notice'. This is because 
the right of appeal is adequately provided for through the courts, which is a 
tried and trusted system.

3.16. The consultation questions and proposed responses are set out in 
Appendix A.  The consultation link can be found at:

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/waste/crime-and-poor-performance-in-the-
waste-sector/

4.   Relationship to the Corporate Plan

  This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aims:-

 To reduce anti-social behaviour
 To ensure a high quality street-scene. 

5.   Financial, legal, staffing and other admin implications & risk assessments

Financial Implications None as a result of this report

Legal Implications None as a result of this report

Staffing Implications None as a result of this report

Administrative Implications As above

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6.   Details of Exempt Information Category

  Not applicable

7.    Appendices

   Appendix A – Consultation questions and proposed response

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/waste/crime-and-poor-performance-in-the-waste-sector/
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/waste/crime-and-poor-performance-in-the-waste-sector/


CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mark Salisbury 
(01322) 343339

Enforcement and 
Regulatory Services

N/A





APPENDIX A
Response ID ANON-MSAN-JTXX-W

Submitted to Consultation on proposals to tackle crime and poor performance in the waste sector & 
introduce a new fixed penalty for the waste duty of care

Submitted on 2018-01-19 10:48:12

Introduction

a What is your name?

Name:

Mark Salisbury

b What is your email address?

Email:

mark.salisbury@dartford.gov.uk

c What is your organisation?

Organisation:

Dartford Borough Council

d Would you like your response to be confidential?

No

If you answered Yes to this question please give your reason:

e Are you responding as or on behalf of:

b) a local authority

If you answered d) please specify:

f If you are replying as an individual, do you:

Not Answered

If you answered c) please specify:

N/A

g If you are replying on behalf of an organisation or business, please specify whether your 
organisation or business:

d) has an interest in the waste sector for other reasons – please specify

If you answered b) c) or d) please specify:

As a local Authority we contract out waste collection and enforce environmental crime such as Fly Tipping 
and Littering.

h Do you, or does the business or organisation you represent carry out waste operations under an 
environmental permit?

No

If you answered yes, please specify:

mailto:mark.salisbury@dartford.gov.uk


i Do you, or does the business or organisation you represent carry out waste operations under a 
registered waste exemption?

No

Other - please specify:

j Are you, or is the business or organisation you represent registered as a waste carrier, broker or 
dealer?

No

If you answered yes, please specify:

k If you are in business or part of an organisation, where is it established?

England

l How many staff are employed in your business or organisation?

50 - 249

Part A: Raising the standard of operator competence at permitted waste sites

1 Do you think widening the definition of relevant offences will enable the regulators to make a more 
informed decision about operator past performance?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

2 Do you think the Serious Crime Act 2015 and the Public Order Act 1986 should be added to table 1?

Not Answered

Should offences in other Acts of Parliament be added to table 1? Do you have any other comments?

3 Do you think it should be made clearer that regulators can take spent offences into account in 
exceptional circumstances?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

4 Do you think that corporate bodies should be treated differently from individuals and the regulators 
should be able to consider the convictions of corporate bodies?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

5 Do you think that ensuring the regulators can take account of poor behaviour will enable the 
regulators to make a more informed decision about operator past performance?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

6 Do you think that widening the definition of relevant person will enable the regulators to make a 
more informed decision about operator past performance?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?



7 Do you think that it would be beneficial for all waste permit holders to operate in accordance with a 
written management system?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

8 Do you think that including an explicit requirement in the EPRs for permitted waste sites to 
demonstrate technical competence through a scheme approved by government will address the 
current gap in technical competence?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

9 Do you think that inserting a requirement into the EPRs for operators to inform the regulators of the 
TCM at their waste site will address the current gap in technical competence?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

10 Do you think the current competence schemes should be amended to include a TCM registration 
process to address the current gap in technical competence?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

11 Do you have any information about the proportion of waste sites that would employ a TCM, rather 
than training a current employee?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

Do you have any information about the proportion of sites not currently adequately covered by a 
TCM?

12 Do you think that an independent report that rates business solvency and risks will enable the 
regulators to confirm that operators are financially able to meet their permit obligations?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

13 Do you think that all waste site operators or only higher risk operators should be required to make 
financial provision?

Not Answered

14 What risk criteria do you consider should be taken into account when determining which waste 
operations should be required to make financial provision?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

15 Do you think the proposed basis for calculating the amount of financial provision would be 
sufficient?

Not Answered



Do you have any comments?

16 Do you think that regulators should be able to extend financial provision in exceptional 
circumstances?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

17 Do you think the level of required financial provision should be reduced for wastes with significant 
and demonstrable recovery values?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

18 Do you think that it is appropriate for operators to agree the mechanism for making financial 
provision with the regulator?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

19 Do you think it is beneficial for financial institutions to be involved in the holding and management 
of financial provision funds?

Not Answered

What are the opportunities and risks? Do you have any comments?

20 Do you think that alternative funding should be found to cover the costs of managing sites in the 
absence of the operator?

Not Answered

How is this best achieved? Do you have any comments?

21 Do you think that operators of landfill sites should report more frequently on current and projected 
works at their site and the state of their financial provision fund?

Not Answered

Are there more effective ways of preventing shortfalls in funds for maintenance and aftercare? Do 
you have any comments?

22 Have you experienced an increase or a decrease in criminality and poor performance in the waste 
sector over the last few years?

Not Answered

What are your expectations for the future if nothing is done to tackle the issue?

23 Overall, how effective do you think Options 2 and 3, as described in the impact assessment, would 
be to tackle criminality and poor performance in the waste sector?

Not Answered

24 Do you think that any of the proposals will impose additional costs on yourself or your organisation?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?



25 Do you thing that the proposed analytical approach appropriately covers all potential costs and 
benefits that would arise from implementing the proposals?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

26 Do you think that any of the costs and benefit covered in the impact assessment should not be 
accounted for in the costings?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

27 Do you have any evidence that would support the calculation of benefits or costs of the operator 
competence proposals to business?

Not Answered

Do you have any comments?

Are you aware of any other sources of evidence that would improve the costings?

Part C: Duty of care fixed penalty notice

82 Do you believe that householders are currently sufficiently aware of their duties and the risk of 
prosecution when passing their waste to an unauthorised person?

No

Do you have any comments?

Enforcement Officers have confirmed that there is a general ignorance of the responsibilities for a 
householder in this respect.

83 What more could be done to improve householder awareness of their duty of care and prevent fly-
tipping of household waste?

Do you have any comments?

We would suggest an effective Government led publicity campaign which would involve ALL 
stakeholders in providing a consistent message regarding the offences Householders could commit and 
the criminal liability associated with such offending. Participating agencies should include Local 
Authorities, The Environment Agency, Police, Fire Services as well as relevant private contractors. 
Subsequent publicity of those caught and prosecuted for offences should also be encouraged.

84 Do you think that the Waste Duty of Care Code of Practice provides enough guidance on reasonable 
measures that can be taken to meet the household duty of care?

No

Do you have any comments?

There should be more emphasis on the seriousness of offending and the consequences of doing so. 
Consideration should be given to producing a bespoke 'Householders Waste Duty of Care Guidance' 
document, rather than it being a small constituent part of a more generic document.

85 Do you think there are any other reasonable measures to meet the household duty of care that 
should be set out in guidance to households?

Yes



Do you have any comments?

As well as the comments in Q 84, we would add that Householders should be listed at para. 2.3 of the 
guidance along with waste carriers etc as opposed to being listed separately. The reference that they 
have 'limited' duty of care, whilst it may be so, implies that the level of seriousness is much less.

86 Do you think that the introduction of a FPN for the offence of a householder passing their waste to 
an unauthorised person would help tackle fly-tipping?

Yes

Do you have any comments?

This would have several benefits. At the moment we are obliged to take such cases to court which 
involves, often, lengthy investigations and case building processes. The courts would also benefit from 
having less of these, sometimes, minor cases to deal with. In many cases Householders would 
welcome the opportunity of paying a FPN to avoid any formal proceedings and our Enforcement 
Officers would welcome this option. The fine, however, would need to represent the seriousness of the 
offence and should, in our view, be set at the £400 maximum level as with the (relatively) new Fly Tip 
FPN's.

87 Do you think that Government should provide guidance to regulators on the use of the proposed 
FPN?

Yes

Do you have any comments?

Again this would provide a consistent message in Warning and Informing Householders of their 
obligations.

88 Do you think that the proposed levels of penalty for this FPN are correct?

No

Do you have any comments?

We would suggest that the default penalty be £400 reduced to £250 if paid within 10 days which is 
consistent with our penalties for Unauthorised depositing of Waste (fly Tipping) contrary to Section 33 
Environmental Protection Act.

89 Following implementation of the FPN, do you think that local authorities should communicate how 
frequently they use these penalties, and the impact on fly-tipping?

Yes

Do you have any comments?

Yes. We already publicise performance data in this respect on our website.

90 Do you think the introduction of this FPN will impose any additional costs on local authorities or 
other issuing authorities?

No

Do you have any comments?

This will merely be added to the list of FPN Enforcement options for officers. It should, in fact, save 
opportunity costs in terms of court / case file preparations.

91 Do you think the introduction of this FPN will make savings for local authorities or other issuing 
authorities?

Yes



Do you have any comments?

See above comment. It should make (small) savings in terms of opportunity costs regarding case file / court 
preparations.

92 Do you think that other parties than local authorities and other issuing authorities could incur costs 
of benefit from the introduction of this FPN?

Yes

Do you have any comments?

The Police and Environment Agency should have these powers but, in our experience, rarely use them.

93 Do you think that the proposal will impose additional costs on yourself or your organisation?

No

Do you have any comments?

See comments above

94 Do you have any other information on the possible cost or benefits of issuing fixed penalty notices?

No

Do you have any comments?

No

95 Do you think that issuing authorities should be able to offer an appeals process for people to dispute 
a householder duty of care FPN?

No

Do you have any comments?

In our view the process of this FPN needs to be consistent with others within the Environmental crime 
sphere.

96 Do you think that issuing authorities would incur any additional costs by providing an appeals 
process for people to dispute the issuing of a householder duty of care FPN?

Yes

Do you have any comments?

This would require additional staff to deal with appeals.

97 Do you think there are any other steps the appeal process should cover?

No

Do you have any comments?

98 What are the best ways to ensure that the recipients of a FPN are made aware of the appeal process 
if one is available?

Do you have any comments?

There would be none available and the explanation on the FPN itself is consistent with other similar 
offences, i.e. 'Failure to pay within 14 days will result in legal proceedings being instituted without 
further notice'.



99 Where an issuing authority chooses not to offer an appeals process do you think the right of appeal 
is adequately provided for through the courts?

Yes

Do you have any comments?

This is a tried and trusted system.

Consultee Feedback on the Online Survey

Overall, how satisfied are you with our online consultation tool?

Satisfied

Please give us any comments you have on the tool, including suggestions on how we could improve 
it. :



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

KENT MINERALS AND WASTE LOCAL PLAN CONSULTATIONS 
RESPONSE 

1. Summary

1.1 Consultation on the partial review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan July 2016, covering the period 2013 to 2030, is now taking place. 
Alongside this, the first stage of public consultation on a Minerals Sites 
Local Plan, identifying specific allocations for future minerals extraction, is 
being undertaken. 

1.2 Policy changes are proposed in the partial review, and specific minerals 
sites are proposed in the Minerals Sites Local Plan. The policies and 
proposals, as currently drafted are expected to have significant impacts on 
the Borough.

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That the consultation response to Kent County Council, as set out in Appendix 
A, be approved. 

3. Background 

3.1 The Kent Minerals & Waste Local Plan (KMWLP) was adopted in July 
2016 and is now subject to a review of certain policies.  Alongside this, 
a new Minerals Sites Plan (MSP) which will formally identify sites 
suitable for mineral extraction is being prepared. Kent County Council, 
as the waste and minerals planning authority, is required to plan to 
meet the level of mineral need required for construction and other 
economically necessary purposes requiring aggregates etc over the 
plan period (2013-30). 

3.2 Kent County Council’s Waste and Mineral Local Plans, once adopted, 
form part of Dartford’s statutory Development Plan alongside the 
Council’s Core Strategy and Development Policies Plan.  The starting 
point is that all planning applications must be determined in accordance 
with these plans. 

3.3 An identified land-bank of at least seven years’ worth of minerals 
towards the identified 10 year supply requirement is to be maintained. 

3.4 In terms of the new draft MSP allocations, option sites have been 
identified as having potential to supply most of the requirement set out 
in the 2016 Plan.  The process in identifying option sites was initiated 
by considering sites submitted by land owners through a call for sites. It 
appears that other potential land opportunities, where there may be 
potential for mineral deposits as identified through saved policy CA6 
Areas of Search of the Kent Minerals Local Plan Construction 



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

Aggregates 1993, has not been considered or investigated by the 
County Council . This means that the initial pool of sites is limited and 
predominantly represented by sites where there is limited scope for 
higher value land uses, such as Green Belt sites. The response, at 
Appendix A, calls for the initial identification of sites to be reviewed and 
the scope of sources widened. 

3.5 Kent County Council has undertaken an initial assessment of the sites 
coming forward through the call for sites, to identify those that have the 
ability to access the required mineral e.g. where physical factors such 
as geology indicate the presence of minerals and therefore potential to 
support the requirements of the 2016 Plan. Following this, a preliminary 
desktop assessment of potential environmental and economic factors 
of all identified sites to evaluate whether mineral development is 
justified and deliverable has been undertaken. The purpose of this 
stage of the assessment is to screen out sites that are unlikely to meet 
these criteria.   In advance of further technical assessment views are 
sought on the emerging options, so that ‘local knowledge and expertise 
can be taken into account’. 

 3.6 Following the current consultation and subsequent technical 
assessment, preferred option sites will be identified for incorporation in 
the plan. It should, however, be noted that none of the initial pool of 
sites with mineral potential were excluded through the desktop 
environmental and economic assessment. Whilst the assessment 
summaries state that the results will be subject to more detailed 
assessments before final selection, there is likely to be a strong 
presumption of all the option sites being brought forward, as otherwise 
the need will not be met.   

3.7  Overall, the proposed MSP indicates that even if all the option sites 
are brought forward, there will be still be a sharp sand and gravel 
shortfall over the plan period.  Demand will be increasingly met from 
sources other than identified sites, such as recycled aggregates and 
imported crushed rock. The draft response calls for more investigation 
of the extent of these recycled sources locally. Use of these sources 
has the potential to reduce the adverse economic, social and 
environmental impact of new mineral workings and to take advantage 
of sources within areas of growth in Kent, such as material recycling 
through re-development of sites. 

 
3.8   The consultation on the (KMWLP) proposes amending selected policies 

in the 2016 Plan. 

3.9    The KMWLP Policy DM7 (Safeguarding Mineral Resources), in its 
current form, allows planning consent to be granted for non-mineral 
development in an identified minerals safeguarding area, if the 
proposal is on an allocated site in the Local Development Plan.  
Mineral safeguarding areas were set out in the 2016 Plan and cover 
extensive areas of the Borough, including Dartford Marshes, The 



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

Bridge development, the Darent Valley, Stone Lodge and areas around 
Swanscombe.  

3.10   Policy DM7 wording is proposed to be changed to only allow planning 
consent by Boroughs to be approved at safeguarded locations, 
‘…where allocated development in a Borough’s Local Plan had 
previously taken into consideration mineral safeguarding and 
concluded that mineral resources would not be needlessly sterilised.’  
KCC believe this change will enable better protection of safeguarded 
mineral sites from development that may prevent future mineral 
extraction.

4. Discussion of Proposals

4.1   The draft MSP identifies two potential sites within Dartford located at 
Dartford salt and fresh-water marshes; these being at Joyce Green 
Quarry and at the northern end of Central Road to the south of Bob 
Dunn Way. 

4.2 The two sites identified in Dartford have an estimated yield of 2.4mt 
(million tonnes) over a 10-year lifespan. This equates to 23.8% of the 
plan requirement for land-won sharp sand and gravel. These do not 
take into account a current planning application, that if consented 
would enable, an additional mineral site to operate within Dartford 
Marshes. 

4.3    Following this public consultation, option sites will be taken through a 
final stage, of technical assessments to ascertain suitability. Once this 
process is completed, those sites found to be acceptable will be 
identified as preferred options for allocation in the MSP. 

4.4   Site M7: Land at Central Road – the site option has identified 23 
hectares of fresh marsh land to the south of Bob Dunn Way.  The site 
forms part of the Northern Gateway Strategic site in Dartford’s Core 
Strategy and is designated Borough Open Space in the Dartford 
Development Policies Plan, and a Local Wildlife site. 

4.5 The site is identified as green space in Dartford’s Local Plan to serve 
development at the Northern Gateway.  It is subject to an ecological 
management plan required through planning consent for an adjacent 
development. This open space mitigates shortfalls in open space 
provision within other developed parts of the site and the Fresh Water 
Marshes are required to remain as open space so as to maintain 
Dartford’s policy requirement for open space provision as part of new 
development. 

4.6 Site M11: Joyce Green Quarry – the site option has identified 48ha of 
land at the west side of Dartford Marshes close to the River Darent. 
The land is salt marsh, and is designated as a Local Wildlife Site and 
Borough Open Space in the Dartford Development Policies Plan.  The 



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

site also lies in a Biodiversity Opportunity Area, where Dartford’s 
Development Plan policies require particular focus to be given to 
enhancing biodiversity. Dartford’s Core Strategy requires that the 
Marshes be protected and enhanced as a biodiversity asset, allowing 
for low key leisure and recreation taking into account this ecological 
protection. 

4.7 This site is located within the Green Belt.   Whilst use of land for 
mineral extraction is not necessarily ‘inappropriate’ in the Green Belt, 
this is subject to the openness of the Green Belt being preserved and 
there being no conflicts with the purposes of including land within the 
Green Belt.  In the case of this site, Officers consider that the location, 
flat landscape and extremely ‘open’ character all indicate that use for 
mineral extraction would both severely impact on the openness of the 
site and conflict with the purposes of Green Belt designation. 

4.8 The consultation document acknowledges that detailed technical 
assessment and sustainability appraisal will be required to assess 
whether the identified sites are to be taken forward to the next stage of 
the plan.  However, there is concern that the assessment carried out at 
this stage has not been robust.  Errors and omissions have been 
identified which raise doubts as to whether the assessment is a 
suitable basis for taking the option sites through to the next stage of 
plan preparation. These concerns are set out in the response.  

4.9 Mineral Site allocations, if included in the MSP together with 2016 Plan 
policies, will be a key consideration by KCC in determining minerals 
planning applications as they come forward.  Conversely, the changes 
proposed through amending the 2016 Plan by KCC, will need to be 
taken into account in Dartford’s own planning decisions for general 
development proposals in the Borough on the safeguarded areas and 
identified sites. 

4.10 The retrospective change to DM7 policy wording would mean that 
planning applications at identified development sites in Minerals 
Safeguarding Areas, such as Thames Europort, identified in Dartford’s 
Local Plan, will have to assess potential impact on future minerals 
extraction.  They may have to be refused if they are considered to 
sterilise mineral deposits. This is because the identification of 
development sites through the Core Strategy, 2011, preceded the 
Mineral Area Safeguarding through KCC’s 2016 Plan and hence was 
not able to take into account minerals safeguarding issues.  This 
change of policy will retrospectively impact on identified development 
sites and could undermine the Council’s strategy for development.  If 
this policy change is adopted, it may not be possible to bring forward 
sites which have been identified for development, with consequent 
pressure to bring forward other less suitable sites.  

4.11 The change in wording will also require the Council to undertake a 
robust assessment of all future proposed development allocations 
within Safeguarded Minerals Areas when producing a new 
Development Plan, with a risk that some sites may not meet the 



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

Minerals Plan policy test and may have to be excluded as potential 
development sites. 

5. Conclusions and Proposed Response

5.1 The full draft Response is included at Appendix A. 

5.2 It is recommended that the Council strongly objects to site M7: Land at 
Central Road, Dartford and M11: Joyce Green Quarry being taken 
forward into the next draft of the MSP.

5.3   There are fundamental concerns over the suitability and delivery of 
proposals for site M7. The retention of green space is an integral part 
of plans for the ongoing major regeneration of Dartford at the Northern 
Gateway strategic site. 

5.4 Strong objections are also raised over proposed site M11 in the MSP. 
Officers are of the view that use of the land for mineral extraction would 
be ‘inappropriate development’ in the Green Belt.  

5.5 Officers are of the view that the site selection process to date is flawed.  
It contains errors and omissions and the pool of sites, drawing only on 
sites put forward by land-owners, is too narrow to allow for a selection 
process at the next stage.  The response, therefore, urges Kent County 
Council to carry out further consultation and assessment before moving 
to the selection of Preferred Options.

5.6 The revisions to the 2016 Plan policy DM7 are also strongly objected 
to.  The possible implications of safeguarding as now proposed to 
apply are of concern to the achievement of the Borough’s development 
strategy. Strong objection is raised about the retrospective application 
of these requirements as they undermine a borough’s ability to 
effectively plan for its area. This is the case where, as in Dartford, the 
development plan predated KCC’s 2016 Plan that first introduced  
safeguarding areas. 

6. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The draft proposals have the potential to undermine the achievement 
of a balance of jobs and housing growth, the reduction of health 
inequalities in the Borough and the achievement of sustainable 
development.

7. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment Proposals in the consultation documents, 
if implemented, may result in departure 
from Dartford’s Local Plan policies and 
undermine achievement of Council 
priorities. 

8. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

9. Appendices

Appendix A – Dartford Borough Council Response to Kent Minerals 
and Waste Consultations March 2018.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref 

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Kent Minerals and Waste 
Planning Policy consultations 
Dec 17 to March 2018

http://consult.kent
.gov.uk/portal/

Tania Smith
(01322) 343103

Regeneration N/A



Appendix A

Dartford Borough Council (the ‘Borough Council’)Response to Regulation 18 
Consultations; with regard to proposed changes through early review of the KCC 
Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 to 30 and the Kent Minerals Sites Plan 

1 Comments on proposed policy changes to the KMWP 2016 (2016 Plan)

1.1 The Council objects to the retrospective change to policy DM7 with regard to 
development plan allocations in Minerals Safeguarding Areas. This is 
considered perverse in the case of Dartford, where the Core Strategy 2011 
predates KCC’s 2016 Plan. The changed requirements for minerals 
safeguarding of sites should only be applied to development site allocations 
and identified development sites where identified post 2016.  It is only from 
this point that Local Planning Authorities could be expected to take minerals 
safeguarding into account when preparing their plans and in liaising with land-
owners.  

1.2 Where development allocations were adopted prior to the 2016 Plan, the 
existing caveats in adopted policy DM7 regarding the development approach 
to be applied, should remain. It is considered that this approach would be in 
keeping with National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 143 that states 
at bullet point 3 that Local Planning Authorities in preparing Local Plans 
should ‘define Minerals Safeguarding Areas and adopt appropriate policies in 
order that known locations of specific minerals resources of local and national 
importance are not needlessly sterilised by non-mineral development, whilst 
not creating a presumption that resources defined will be worked’.

 
1.3 The concept of safeguarding land with future minerals potential, through 

criteria applying to proposals   for non - mineral forms of development, hinges 
on Local Planning Authorities successfully applying the criteria in their 
development management decisions. It is considered KCC have failed to 
engage with Dartford over how this would occur in practice, taking into 
account local planning policies and circumstances. 

1.4 The potential implications of safeguarding as now proposed to apply are of 
significant concern to the Borough and the ability to implement its 
development strategy. Sites identified in Dartford’s Local Plan which lie within 
Minerals Safeguarding areas will have to be retrospectively assessed for their 
potential impact on future minerals extraction.  There may be a need for 
refusal if they are considered to sterilise mineral deposits.    If this policy 
change is adopted, the adopted Plan strategy may be undermined with sites 
identified for development not able to come forward and consequent pressure 
to bring forward other less suitable sites.  The policy change also has the 
potential to undermine the required level of housing delivery in Dartford, with 
serious implications for addressing housing need in Dartford and the wider 
area, which relies on delivery in Dartford.



2. Comments on Regulation 18 Minerals Sites Plan (MSP)

2.1 It is acknowledged that the MSP is being progressed to replace saved policy 
CA6 Areas of search etc. in the Construction Aggregates Local Plan 1993, 
and when finalised will form part of the revised KMWP.  The saved policy 
identified several areas of land within Dartford Marshes, some of which have 
now been developed as The Bridge mixed use site.  

2.2 Some of the remaining area has now been identified as site options in the 
draft MSP. It is noted that a further site within the Dartford Marshes area 
which commenced mineral extraction but ceased some time ago, appears to 
have been omitted from identification as an option site. This should be 
included in order that potential cumulative impacts can be adequately 
assessed.  

2.3 The Borough Council has significant concerns about the site selection thus far 
and considers that the further planned technical assessment must be more 
rigorous in its approach than the assessments undertaken thus far.  Specific 
concerns and comments are provided below. 

2.4 The draft MSP states that potential sites were selected for initial assessment 
through a call for sites. It appears that other potential land opportunities, 
where there may be potential for mineral deposits as identified through saved 
policy CA6 Areas of Search, have not been considered or investigated by the 
County Council.  The call for sites is likely to have only received submissions 
for land where potential for higher value uses such as residential development 
was not an option. This results in a pool of sites that is heavily comprised of 
‘protected’ land where owners have no ‘hope’ value. This has resulted in a too 
narrow pool of sites, with limited scope for elimination of sites at the next 
stage, even if they are shown to be unsuitable or undeliverable.  A wider 
exercise to identify potential sites should be undertaken before moving onto a 
revised suitability assessment (see below).

2.5 The RAG assessment and accompanying initial Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
contain omissions and/or incorrect land designations and/or an inaccurate 
understanding of adverse impacts. In particular the assessment has not taken 
into account Local Plan policy protections and requirements.   The errors and 
omissions undermine the robustness of this initial screening stage of the 
assessment process and the validity of the selection of option sites set out in 
the draft (MSP).  The Council is of the view that some of these errors and 
omissions are so significant that the evidence related to this Regulation 18 
consultation should be reviewed, revised and re-consulted on before the next 
stage in the Plan process is embarked on. For clarity the correct designations 
are provided below with regard to the Dartford sites, although not all 
constraints have been identified.  These can be provided and it is suggested 
that the final assessment for this stage of the initial screening study be cross 
checked by the Borough Council. 

2.6  The Options consultation document states that the option sites are required to 
meet two tests: that they are ‘justified’ i.e. representing an appropriate option 



based on desktop assessment of the opportunities and constraints associated 
with its location; and ‘deliverable’ taking into account if the development would 
result in severe adverse effects, and support by the landowner.  The 
assessment carried out is not considered sufficient to result in a conclusion as 
to whether the two tests have been met.  Dartford Council objects to the 
application of this methodology on the grounds that the assessment exercise 
undertaken was an inadequate basis on which to come to the conclusions that 
were reached.   

2.7 Insufficient consideration has been given to the likely mitigations required in 
bringing a site forward for mineral extraction, resulting in a potential under-
estimate of the extent and cost of providing appropriate mitigation.    
Additionally there appears to be little indication of the quality of the reserve or 
whether its extraction would be financially viable, taking into account the 
mitigation costs.  A broad view on these matters is necessary in the selection 
process, to ensure selected sites have the potential to be economically viable 
and acceptable in planning terms. 

2.8 It is noted that that none of the pool of sites that were subject to RAG 
assessment have been screened out of the site selection process. This is 
considered to be as a result of the shortcomings in the assessment 
methodology and conclusions.  Whilst the consultation plan indicates that 
further technical assessment will be undertaken, the Borough Council is 
concerned that, taking into account the KMWP requirement, there will be a 
strong presumption that the option sites will be identified as preferred options 
in the Regulation 19 Plan. 

2.9 Dartford Council is strongly of the view that this Regulation 18 Stage has been 
undertaken on the basis of flawed information and assessment. This will 
undermine and invalidate later stages.  There can be no confidence that 
appropriate site options are being taken forward to the next stage, with an 
insufficiently wide trawl to identify potentially suitable sites and inclusion of 
potentially unsuitable ones.  A robust assessment might lead to different 
conclusions.  Before the next stage of assessment is undertaken, it is 
recommended that district councils are asked to ‘quality check’ the inputs to 
the assessments in their areas and verify the information.  So as to ensure 
that the Plan can proceed on a sound footing, Kent County Council is strongly 
urged to carry out further review and re-consultation on the site options, 
including the consideration of wider options, prior to the Regulation 19 
consultation.

2.10 The draft MSP indicates that even after taking account of the potential at the 
option sites, there will still be a sharp sand and gravel shortfall as compared to 
the requirement over the plan period.  The plan states that increasingly other 
sources such as recycled aggregates and imported crushed rock will be relied 
upon.  It is recommended that taking into account the significant impacts and 
improbability of adequate mitigation at the suggested option sites, more 
investigation is undertaken into the potential of these alternative sources, 
particularly those that are re-cycled.  Use of these sources has the potential to 
reduce the adverse economic, social and environmental impact of new 



mineral workings and to make beneficial use of recycled material from 
development sites, particularly in Kent’s areas of growth, such as Dartford.  

Specific comments relating to sites within Dartford Borough are as follows:

Site M7: Land at Central Road, Dartford

2.11 The site option has identified 23 hectares of fresh marsh land to the south of 
Bob Dunn Way. The site forms part of the Northern Gateway Strategic site in 
Dartford’s Local Plan (Core Strategy, 2011) It is protected through the Local 
Plan as designated Borough open space (DP24 Development Policies Plan 
2017) and a local wildlife site (DP25). The site is identified as an area of green 
space within the strategic site (Core Strategy Policy CS3).  The strategic site 
now has planning consents which include the area of the Fresh Marshes and 
the consents have been largely built out.    Planning conditions set out in one 
of these consents provides for management and maintenance of the Dartford 
Fresh Marshes as part of the overall development, through an ecological 
management plan.  A 25 year plan has been approved and includes 
conditions to conserve and maintain features of ecological value including the 
ditch network and wet grassland. This requirement should be noted in 
technical assessment.  The planning status of the site suggests that the 
‘justified’ assessment of this site is questionable.

  
2.12 Additionally, the western part of the site lies within an area designated as a 

Biodiversity Opportunity Area (BOA). These designations are not identified in 
the SA Nov 2017. They are all indicated on Dartford’s Proposals Map. 

Site M11: Joyce Green Quarry

2.13 The site option is identified as 48ha of land at the west side of Dartford 
Marshes close to the River Darent. The land is salt marsh, and is designated 
as a Local Wildlife Site which is noted in the assessment. However, its 
designation as Borough Open Space in the Dartford Development Policies 
Plan, 2017 (DP24) is not.  The site lies in a Biodiversity Opportunity Area 
(DP25), where Dartford’s Development Plan policies require particular focus 
to be given to enhancing biodiversity. Dartford’s Core Strategy (CS3) requires 
that one of the key principles for development at the site is that the Marshes 
be protected and enhanced as a biodiversity asset and for low key leisure and 
recreation taking into account this ecological protection.

 
2.14 The site is located within the Green Belt, which the County Council has now 

acknowledged in the updated addendum issued recently. However a Green 
Belt assessment will be required to fully assess the impact of the proposed 
allocation.  This must assess the extent of potential visual and landscape 
harms including the historic importance of the landscape and ecology in this 
location. The site forms the remnants of the historic Thames grazing 
marshland of the Crayford and Dartford Marshes, spanning the Greater 
London Borough of Bexley and Dartford Borough.   Regard should be given to 
the important purpose of the Green Belt at this location. It particularly serves 
to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas and prevents 



neighbouring towns merging into one another in keeping with NPPF para 80. 
The extent of Green Belt in the north of the Borough has previously been 
much reduced through urbanisation.  The Crayford and Dartford Marshes 
provide the last limited area of separation between London and the North Kent 
Thames Estuary growth area and prevents their coalescence.  The contiguous 
nature of the marshes also provides important ecological corridors which 
should be considered and identified in assessment.  Overall it is likely that 
mitigation of the harms brought about through mineral development will be 
challenging, impacting on the deliverability of the site. 

2.15 Under current national policy, the use of land for mineral extraction is not 
necessarily ‘inappropriate’ in the Green Belt (NPPF, para 90). However, this is 
providing that the operation would preserve the openness of the Green Belt 
and that it does not conflict with its purpose. Dartford Council is strongly of the 
view that the location, flat landscape and extremely ‘open’ character (devoid 
of built development) of this site all indicate that its use would both severely 
impact on its openness and conflict with the purposes of Green Belt.  In these 
circumstances, it is concluded that use of the land for mineral extraction would 
be ‘inappropriate development’.

2.16 Additionally, the nature of potential development required for the mineral 
extraction operations should be taken into account in the assessment. It is 
noted in the KMWLP 2014 that  ‘Processing plant, commonly associated with 
mineral extraction, is unlikely to preserve openness, owing to its size, height 
and industrial appearance and therefore would be inappropriate development’.  

2.17 Further technical work must include a more refined assessment as to whether 
‘very special circumstances’ exist, in accordance with NPPF policy, so as to 
justify inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  This should be 
undertaken in advance of KCC identifying a site as a preferred option for 
mineral extraction.  In the event that ‘very special circumstances’ cannot be 
justified, as Dartford Council contends is the case with this site, the proposal 
cannot be considered deliverable and should be screened out of the site 
selection process, due to unacceptable impacts.

Further Assessment following Regulation 18 consultation

2.18 It is noted that following the Regulation 18 consultation, further work will 
include detailed technical assessments including as appropriate: landscape 
and visual impact, transport, strategic flood risk and Green Belt.  Other 
important factors to consider with regard the Dartford sites include: the status 
of the land in agricultural terms (taking account the scarcity of agricultural land 
and development pressure in this part of Kent); archaeological potential; 
groundwater protection; overhead power lines and proximity to landfill areas. 

 
2.19 Without prejudice to the Council’s view that the two sites within the Borough 

are undeliverable and should not be included in the options sites, should they 
be taken forward the following potential impacts should additionally be taken 
into account in the final site selection process.   Both of the Dartford option 
sites are located close to residential communities at The Bridge and Temple 



Hill, the closest point being under 200m. Consideration of engineering, 
extraction and transport impacts on these communities, particularly with 
regard to noise, vibration and air quality must be carefully assessed. The 
KMWLP 2016  para 6.1 sets out that certain types of development nearby to 
minerals development may not always be compatible due to noise dust and 
visual impacts.  Therefore these are key considerations that should be taken 
into account in site selection. 

2.20 Further transport assessment of the Dartford option sites must involve a 
rigorous analysis of the transport impact of mineral operations of the sites, 
including the cumulative impacts of development in this area of high transport 
sensitivity. This must take into account the potential for additional HGV and 
traffic movements to worsen air quality particularly in the designated A282 
(Dartford Tunnel approach) AQMA.

2.21 The use of the sites for minerals extraction will involve vehicles, assumed to 
primarily be HGVs, having to transport materials via Bob Dunn Way and most 
likely access A282/M25 at Junction 1A.  Minerals development at these sites 
has the potential to result in significant traffic generation. It should be noted 
that Highways England currently state that no capacity exists at this junction. 
Whilst improvement schemes are planned at the junction, this will be to 
alleviate existing issues only and will not create new capacity. Additionally the 
Borough Council are concerned that development in this area may result in 
increased traffic on local roads, particularly through reassignment of vehicles 
at times of congestion at junction 1A, which occurs frequently due to incidents 
at Dartford Tunnel. This has the potential to impact on air quality within other 
AQMA areas such as Dartford Town Centre.  

2.22 The consultation document acknowledges that the local road network may 
currently be incapable of accommodating HGVs. It should be noted that no 
highways schemes are currently identified on the local road network or at this 
KCC owned junction to enhance capacity to accommodate future 
development. As with other emerging development proposals in the area, 
KCC must undertake close collaboration with Dartford Council and Highways 
England in assessing potential transport impacts. It is considered that if the 
option sites identified in Dartford  were to come forward, there is a risk of 
refusal of planning consent on transport grounds due to the residual 
cumulative impacts of development being severe in accordance with NPPF 
para 32. 

3 Conclusions

3.1 The Borough Council strongly objects to the identification of site M7 and M11 
as potential options in the Regulation 18 MSP.  Due to the errors, omissions 
and inadequacy of the technical assessment, the Council is of the view that 
the Regulation 18 stage of the process needs to be repeated to ensure that 
Plan preparation proceeds on a sound footing.

3.2 It is of great concern that many factors have not been identified during the 
initial suitability assessment stage.  In summary, the sites should not be 



identified as potential options for safeguarding going forward to the draft plan 
for the following reasons:

 The potential for significant harm to a critical part of the Metropolitan 
Green Belt separating the urban conurbation of London from the 
North Kent Thames Estuary Growth Area.

 The loss of historic landscape and protected natural environment 
which cannot be replaced adequately after mineral operations have 
been completed. 

 Allocation would conflict with land that contributes to open space 
requirements set out in Dartford’s Core Strategy and as a condition 
of an implemented planning consent. 

 Significant transport impacts in an identified area of poor air quality.  
 The likelihood that highway capacity will not support the trip 

generation arising from the operation, and especially at junction 1A 
at the Dartford Tunnel Approach. 

3.3 These and other constraints indicate that the sites will not be deliverable and 
should be withdrawn from the process at this stage.  The strong objection to 
the inclusion of Dartford option sites should be noted. As expressed in this 
response, further engagement with Dartford Borough Council regarding 
applicability of policy and assessment inputs is recommended. 

3.4 Furthermore, the Borough Council would urge Kent County Council to 
reconsider proposed changes to the policy wording in the KMWP 2016. The 
possible implications of safeguarding as now proposed to apply are of 
concern to the achievement of the Borough’s development strategy. Strong 
objection is raised about the retrospective application of these requirements. 
This is the case where, as in Dartford, the development plan predated KCC’s 
2016 Plan that first introduced safeguarding areas and site allocations were 
adopted which could not have taken the newly proposed policy requirements 
into account.  A blanket application of this policy without taking this into 
account has potential to undermine delivery of Dartford’s growth strategy 
which seeks to ensure development is focused in areas of greatest 
sustainability whilst supported through green infrastructure that is safeguarded 
for the future.





CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

WRITE-OFF OF NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES

1. Summary

1.1 To consider writing-off Non Domestic Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because of insolvency, because the 
ratepayer cannot be traced or where the debt is otherwise 
irrecoverable.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1. That the sums shown on Appendix A in the confidential part of the 
report, amounting to £103,572.42 be written off as uncollectible. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. In each of the cases shown in Appendix A, efforts to collect the 
charges raised, have been made but the debts are considered 
irrecoverable for the reasons set out in this report.

3.2. The normal stages of recovery referred to in subsequent paragraphs 
are the issue of bills, reminders, final notices and the application for a 
liability order.  Thereafter, a case may be subject to further action 
which can include the instruction of bailiffs, the commencement of 
insolvency proceedings or an application for a warrant of commitment 
to prison.

3.3. Where a case has been recommended for write-off because there 
appears to be little or no prospect of a dividend to unsecured 
creditors, should such a dividend subsequently be paid, the amount 
of the dividend will be written on to reduce the sums written off as bad 
debt.

3.4. Where a case has been recommended for write-off because the 
ratepayer has gone away and all attempts to trace have proven 
unsuccessful, should their whereabouts subsequently become 
known, the debt will be re-instated.
   

Case 1

3.5. The ratepayer was registered on 11 April 2016 effective from 4 March 
2016 as per information from the landlord.

3.6. Payment was not received in accordance with the bills and so 
reminders were issued on 23 May 2016.

3.7. The ratepayer made the payments due for 2015/16 and the May & 
June instalments for 2016/17 and then requested that the instalments 



CABINET
 8 MARCH 2018

be spread over 12 months instead of the usual 10, resulting in a 
revised bill on 28 June 2016.

3.8. When the July payment was not made on time a reminder was issued 
on 19 July 2016 followed by a summons on 3 August 2016.  A liability 
order was granted on 22 August 2016.

3.9. The ratepayer made a voluntary arrangement for payment but 
defaulted in November 2016.  After discussion payment was made 
and the arrangement was re-instated from December to March.

3.10. Payment was made on 5 December 2016 but the ratepayer defaulted 
again and the liability order was passed to enforcement agents on 3 
May 2017.

3.11. The case had to be recalled from the enforcement agents when the 
company was dissolved on 24 October 2017.

Case 2

3.12. The ratepayer was registered on 9 March 2016, effective from 1 
March 2016.

3.13. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of a liability order on 25 May 2016.

3.14. The liability order was passed to enforcement agents on 29 June 
2016.  Payments commenced via the enforcement agents in 
November 2016 and continued until 22 March 2017.

3.15. The case was returned on 28 April 2017 together with a certificate of 
‘nil effects’.  The enforcement agents also advised that the ratepayer 
had ceased trading and a new occupier was in occupation from 1 
April 2017.

3.16. Enquiries were made of the current occupier and the landlord but 
when no information was forthcoming the case was passed to a 
second enforcement agent on 9 August 2017.

3.17. The case had to be recalled from the enforcement agents when the 
company was dissolved on 19 December 2017.

Case 3

3.18. The ratepayer registered on 14 January 2016, effective from 26 
November 2015 as per information from the landlord.  

3.19. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of liability orders on 30 March 2016, 22 
August 2016 and 22 May 2017.



CABINET
 8 MARCH 2018

3.20. The liability under the first order was cleared by a voluntary payment 
arrangement and the second order was being cleared until payments 
ceased on 4 April 2017.

3.21. The remaining liability orders were passed to enforcement agents on 
17 May 2017 and 7 June 2017 respectively.  Payments were received 
via the enforcement agents in June 2017 and July 2017.

3.22. The cases had to be recalled when the company went into liquidation 
on 28 September 2017.  A proof of debt has been submitted but there 
is little or no prospect of a dividend to unsecured creditors.  The debt 
is therefore submitted for write off.

Case 4

3.23. The ratepayer was registered on 30 December 2014, effective from 1 
June 2014 after the property was entered into the rating list following 
the splitting of an assessment.

3.24. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of liability orders on 16 April 2015, 24 
September 2015 and 25 May 2016.

3.25. Payments were made under a voluntary arrangement from 16 April 
2015 to 1 January 2017 to clear the balances under the liability 
orders.

3.26. The ratepayer made payments by Direct Debit towards the 2017/2018 
financial year from 1 April 2017 to 1 June 2017.  However the Direct 
Debit request for 1 July 2017 was returned unpaid indicating that the 
instruction had been cancelled.

3.27. The ratepayer requested a further Direct Debit mandate on 17 August 
2017.  The facility was set up on 19 September 2017 with an initial 
payment due on 1 November 2017.   

3.28. Action had to cease when the company went in to administration on 
27 October 2017.  

3.29. As the company is continuing to trade under the administration, the 
debt has been apportioned to 27 October 2017 and proof of debt 
submitted.  However, there appears to be little or no prospect of a 
dividend being received and therefore the pre-administration debt is 
submitted for write-off.

3.30. The post-administration debt falls to be paid by the administrators and 
this is being actively pursued. 



CABINET
 8 MARCH 2018

Cases 5 - 11

3.31. The ratepayer, as the owner, became responsible for 7 separate 
empty hereditaments within the same building effective from 13 June 
2014.

3.32. The hereditaments have subsequently been given a zero rateable 
value in the rating list from 29 July 2014 as conversion to domestic 
dwellings is ongoing.

3.33. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of liability orders on 25 September 2014.

3.34. All liability orders were passed to enforcement agents for action on 3 
December 2014 but returned together with certificates of ‘Nil effects’ 
on 28 August 2015.

3.35. After appropriate investigations the case was identified as being 
appropriate for bankruptcy proceedings and solicitors were instructed 
on 11 January 2016.

3.36. The statutory demand was served by way of email as contact could 
not be established to effect personal service.

3.37. An attempt to issue the bankruptcy petition was made but this was 
refused by the Court as “there is insufficient evidence that the debtor 
resides/would collect the statutory demand from the addresses visited 
by the process server where the evidence is that the debtor was not 
in the UK at the time.  There is also insufficient evidence that the 
debtor has received the statutory demand by e-mail or fax.”

3.38. All attempts to locate the ratepayer have been unsuccessful and 
there are no other recovery options available.  The debts are 
therefore submitted for write-off as being irrecoverable.

Case 12

3.39. The ratepayers were registered on 25 March 2010, with effect from 
11 August 2009 as per information from the owners.

3.40. The ratepayers were taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in liability orders on 30 June 2010, 25 May 2011, 31 May 
2012, 23 May 2013, 22 May 2014, 21 May 2015, 25 May 2016 and 22 
May 2017.

3.41. The ratepayers have disputed liability at various points but have 
never provided conclusive evidence to demonstrate that other parties 
are liable.  



CABINET
 8 MARCH 2018

3.42. One of the ratepayers was made bankrupt on 29 October 2012 but 
because the account is in joint names the Council can still pursue the 
other ratepayer for payment.

3.43. After appropriate Investigations the case was identified as being 
appropriate for bankruptcy proceedings against the second ratepayer 
and solicitors were instructed on 24 November 2017.

3.44. The initial liability order granted on 30 June 2010 covers debts that 
are now over six years old.  Whilst the Council can still legally pursue 
the debts once a liability order has been granted, it is felt that 
including such aged debts in the statutory demand would be likely to 
prejudice the success of the application.

3.45. Solicitors have therefore been instructed to pursue the debts from 
2011/12 onwards and the debts for 2009/10 and 2010/11 are 
submitted for write off.

Case 13

3.46. Originally the account was in individual names as per information 
from the landlords but on 20 February 2017 the Council was informed 
that the property should have been in the name of a limited company.

3.47. The company was registered on 9 June 2017, effective from 15 
September 2015.

3.48. The ratepayer was taken through all the normal stages of recovery 
culminating in the granting of a liability order on 25 September 2017.

3.49. Checks made with Companies House before instructing enforcement 
agents revealed that there was an active proposal to strike the 
company off.   

3.50. Further investigations had to cease when the company was dissolved 
on 30 January 2018.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.



CABINET
 8 MARCH 2018

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications Under the Business Rate Retention rules the cost 
of writing off uncollectible debt is shared between 
Central Government, Dartford Borough Council, 
Kent County Council and Kent & Medway Fire and 
Rescue Authority. 

As such, the potential cost to Dartford Borough 
Council will be £41,428.97 this being 40% of the 
total debt recommended for write-off. 

A provision is set aside for this purpose.
Legal Implications As set out in the body of the report
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A Non-Domestic Rate debts submitted for write-off.  

This appendix has been placed on the closed part of the agenda because it 
relates to exempt information within the category contained in Standing Order 
46(1) (b) Annex 1, namely paragraph 3 information relating to the financial 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding the 
information) and in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in not 
disclosing the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File Ref Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

NNDR 
Write-off 
papers

Various Sue Cressall
01732 227041

Revenues Appendix A 
SO46 (1) (b) 
Annex 1 
Para. 3



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 3 of 2017-18.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly 
of the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan 
delivers the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through 
the following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the 
Council wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating 
to the Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of 
the Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the third quarter of 
2017-18.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have 
targets assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some 
indicators may report annually, and these have been identified in the 
report.



CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 MARCH 2018

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate Support

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q3 2017/18
1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities

Key Action Q3 Update
Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing

Planning consent for scheme granted in August 2017.  Some delay occurring whilst 
developer gears up for start on site.

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site Work is continuing to finalise and agree the development agreement.
Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot

Concept designs and LinSig modelling completed. Information populating Full 
Business Case for LGF bid.

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square

Concept designs completed. Information populating Full Business Case for LGF bid.

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes

First phase of housing at Eastern quarry of approx. 1,500 homes well progressed.  
Agreement in principle has been reached with developer and EDC on variations to 
planning consent for remainder of the site which will enable the development to come 
forward. 

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 
system and its extension to the new developments

Extension to Ingress Park and secondary access onto London Rd finalised.  
Incorporation of Fastrack into the Northern Gateway development through Millpond 
and Phoenix Quarter agreed as part of planning consent.  Provision of Fastrack 
through Eastern Quarry and through tunnels in chalk spine to Bluewater being 
progressed.  Use of electric buses to be piloted with a view to their introduction in 
long term.

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces

Design work continuing; anticipate planning application to be made in February 2018 
and tender works shortly thereafter. Main consultants have delayed the project by a 
few weeks due to lack of resources. Final design of the river works and flood 
modelling now under way, working with the EA and other partners.



2

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford This has now been established as part of the dartfordbusinessawards.com work.

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition
This has been a very successful initiative fully supported by the Leader of the Council 
who takes a keen interest in the look and feel of the event. The 2017 event at 
Bluewater proved to be successful and attracted a lot of positive media coverage.

Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience

This is an ongoing programme in partnership with local businesses and developers. 
The relocation of the market has been very successful and events, such as the 
Christmas Lights switch on have had great support.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life

Key Action Q3 Update

Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities

Planning application for rugby club submitted just prior to Christmas. Detailed design 
and specification of the works under way; likely tender in spring 2018 working 
towards a completion early 2019.

Outline planning application for the remainder of the Stone Lodge site delayed due to 
substantial traffic modelling requested by KCC and HE. Now likely to submit in Spring 
2018.

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 3, 19 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 160. 
Attendees were 70. 

There are currently 6 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 3, 70 Health Walk 
sessions ran. The number of attendances were 673. Attendees were 294. There were 
17 new people that joined the walks.

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough.  In quarter 3, 16 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 96. 
Attendees were 56.

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 28+. In quarter 3, 58 people were engaged with the 



3

programme. 32 of these completed the course of which 17 achieved a weight loss of 
>5%.

Don’t Sit Get Fit/Dynamo’s are family weight management programmes. 23 families 
have been booked to start. 15 of these families completed a minimum of 7 sessions 
and 19 families completed the full 10 sessions. 

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events.

In terms of Healthy Workplaces, this is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend 
and is being promoted at networking meetings. In quarter 3, 4 businesses have been 
pre-assessed.  As Kent County Council are no longer able to use the wellbeing 
charter from December 2017, this has resulted in having to notify all businesses 
about the change-over and how they would like to progress.    

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes

Opportunities for organisations to apply for funding continue through Salute to Youth 
and Community Grant.

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer

Ongoing monitoring of the contract continues with quarterly updates and reports in 
addition to specific project meetings and site inspections. Recent works completed 
include up grading in various areas of the facility with LED lighting and the addition of 
additional privacy screens within the female wet change area, with other works under 
development and an annual report is reported to Members via Scrutiny.

Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre

The Council is working with the What If...? Gallery to curate a series of exhibitions in 
the Sir Peter Blake Gallery, which will include a summer exhibition open to all 
residents and an exhibition by Extended Diploma students from North Kent College.

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year A number of events are being planned for 2018, including the Steam Fair, St Georges 
Day and Dartford Festival.

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments

Green space continues to be delivered within the major developments as the 
schemes are built out, including at Eastern Quarry, The Bridge and St Clements 
Lakes.  New open space to be provided at Northern Gateway as well as improved 
access to the Mill Pond, River Darent and Dartford Fresh Marshes.  The emerging 
masterplan for the Stone Lodge development includes predominantly open space on 
the site which is to be laid out for informal recreation.



4

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site

The Council has now been advised that whilst the One Public Estate bid has been 
successful, the award would now be by way of a repayable grant rather than a 
straight forward grant as per the bid submission. This would mean that the funding 
would need to be repaid within a three year time period. A repayable grant would 
provide little benefit to the project - the conditions attached to the funding would be 
onerous such that detailed monitoring reports would need to be prepared on the 
progress of the project, whilst the fact that the funding would have to be repaid would 
not address the actual funding gap for the project. After lengthy discussions, it has 
therefore been decided that there is no merit in accepting the funding. In the 
meantime, Muse Developments have shared initial plans with the CCG and 
discussions are ongoing regarding the delivery of the health hub.

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise

Key Action Q3 Update

Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others

The Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2014 provides powers to designate a 
geographical area to stop individuals or groups committing ASB in a public space. 
Following Cabinet approval, a PSPO was instituted for the Town Centre including the 
Westgate car park which, following a 6 week statutory period allowing for any public 
appeal process, went ‘live’ from 6th November 2017. The first month of the PSPO 
saw an ‘education’ based approach from DBC officers and the Police towards 
‘offenders’ as an alternative to FPN enforcement. New signage has been erected in 
the Town Centre which has, essentially, replaced the old Designated Public Place 
Order (under old legislation) signage, which expired October 2017. The other PSPO 
which is being considered is at Crossways Boulevard, Greenhithe to deal with the 
‘Boy Racer’ problems.

CPW and CPN's are being issued regularly and appropriately by Officers from 
Enforcement and Regulatory Services, Housing and Environmental Health.

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour

The Community Safety Unit (CSU) continues to deliver successful outcomes 
alongside the Council’s primary partner, Kent Police, as well as other services within 
DBC and outside agencies such as KCC (Community Wardens) and Kent Fire and 
Rescue Service. The Community Safety Manager has bid successfully to the Police 



5

and Crime Commissioner for several ASB projects and initiatives and attends several 
multi-agency fora concerned with ASB in the Borough.

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety

The inspection programme continues to be worked through by the Commercial Team 
officers. The high risk inspections due will be completed as a priority. Lower risk 
premises programme is running behind schedule due to sickness absence and the 
team carrying a hard to fill vacancy for over a year.

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol

The new combined post of Licensing Compliance and Enforcement Officer came into 
being in April 2017. Since this time the post holder has made a significant impact in 
terms of gleaning licensing renewal fees for relevant premises and carrying out joint 
visits and operations with the Police. There has been very favourable feedback from 
both Police and service users.

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford

This initiative is now well underway in terms of the new style test for both Hackney 
and Private Hire drivers. This test involves the essential issues of 'safeguarding' in 
the widest sense and also issues concerned with the prevention of terrorism and 
radicalisation. The new test is all computer based and strict integrity measures are in 
place. There has not been much uptake from Private Hire Operators to become 
involved in the scheme to date which is disappointing. However, the new measures 
have won praise from the likes of TFL and the Police.

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public

The Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) scheme has gone from strength to strength 
over the last 18 months or so with 68 members from the business community and 
around 115 users of the DTAC computer system. The Police have played their part in 
continuing with a dedicated Town Centre Police Officer, which is essential for the 
scheme to work effectively. DBC has continued with its commitment to CCTV for both 
the day and night time Town Centre economies. The new arrangements maintain 
CCTV services ‘in house’ with a more intelligence led approach as to when cameras 
will be physically monitored, and have been ‘live’ since April 1st 2017.



6

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel

Key Action Q3 Update
Procure a new waste collection contract Awaiting a formal decision on the outcome of the Big Bin Vote 3. 

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking

Under contract, DBC instructed Kingdom Security to act as the Council’s enforcement 
capability for litter and dog fouling in January 2016. Since then and up until the end of 
December 2017 6,336 fixed penalty notices (FPN) have been issued to offenders in 
the borough.

DBC, having led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN, still remain one of 
very few local authorities within Kent to have introduced this. Up until December 
2017, there have been 35 FPN’s for minor fly tips served by DBC Enforcement 
Officers (not Kingdom).

In terms of Fly Tip investigations DBC have an impressive 60% positive outcome / 
disposal rate.

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented

Volunteer scheme is up and running, equipment to facilitate volunteer litter picking 
has been purchased. A number of groups have been established.

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments

Energy efficiency standards now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017.

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of 
Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity

Design of scheme being progressed by Highways England.  Submission of 
application due late 2018, with decision in 2020.  If private finance route is followed, 
construction to start 2023 with completion in 2027.

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures Boiler works completed but lighting postponed for 2018/19.

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national 
requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents

Air quality continues to be monitored as determined by government requirements. 
The majority of air pollution is caused by vehicles on the major roads in the Borough.



7

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

Key Action Q3 Update
Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme

New build phase 1 progressing well, with sites for phase 2 currently being identified.

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017-18 On target to achieve this ambition with 105 confirmed at 1/1/18.

Include community facilities as part of major new developments

Primary School has opened at the Castle Hill development in Eastern Quarry.  Other 
community facilities including further schools and health facilities are agreed through 
the S106 and will be brought forward as the development proceeds. Primary School 
agreed and being progressed on the Ebbsfleet Green development.  Primary school 
incorporated within Northern Gateway development.  Land has been reserved, 
academy identified to bring the school forward and planning application expected 
shortly.  Health hub proposals being discussed as part of the development on the 
former Co-op site in Hythe St.  Negotiations taking place to secure primary School on 
the St James' Lane Pit site.

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes

Community Grant for 2017/18 was launched in October, resulting in 17 awards being 
made. Salute to Youth 2017/18 is ongoing and grants have been awarded to 5 
organisations so far this financial year.

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light Programme has been drawn up, subject to budget approval.

Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum

The Council is working with HLF to bring the Museum to the point where a realistic 
bid could be made. This work is concentrating on cataloguing.

Maximise the number of people registered to vote 74,276 parliamentary electors on register at 1/12/17 



8

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement

Key Action Q3 Update
Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money

Work continuing on individual projects. 

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the 
Council

Agile working is being trialled in two departments within the Council for a period of six 
months (one in internal services and one in external services).  Feedback on 
successes and concerns will be received and reviewed before rolling out further.

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget Budget review for 2018/19 completed - budget approval in February.

Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs Majority of 2017/18 programme now complete.

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates

Kent pilot agreed by government. Full adoption of 100% scheme likely to be slower. 
The government are looking to roll out a 75% scheme in 2020/21.

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019

A report went to the GAC on 30 November 2017 proposing 19 wards (an increase 
from the current 17 wards). These would be a mix of one, two and three member 
wards. GAC agreed the report and consequently this was submitted to the Local 
Government Boundary Commission (LGBCE). The LGBCE have now issued their 
recommendations proposing 20 wards. The LGBCE are currently consulting on these 
proposals with the consultation ending on 9 April 2018. Changes to the ward 
boundaries will come into effect from the May 2019 Elections. The proposed changes 
to the ward boundaries have in turn triggered a Community Governance Review 
which will look at the parish warding arrangements. The terms of reference for this 
review have now been published setting out the scope and timetable for the review. It 
is proposed that any changes resulting from this review will also be implemented with 
effect from the May 2019 Elections.

 



1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q3 2017/18

Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Community Infrastructure 
Levy income £2,061,024 £66,196 £185,089 £392,687 £643,972  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied to eligible development 
since April 2014. During quarter 3 of 2017/18, payments have been made by 
development at both residential and commercial sites. Payments can rise or fall 
from quarter to quarter, as CIL is only triggered upon commencement of 
consented development. 15% of the revenue generated from CIL liable 
developments in a local area, will be passed to town/parish councils and applied to 
projects in local neighbourhoods, and a further proportion of the total CIL revenue 
will be used for administrative costs. In December 2017 Cabinet resolved that no 
CIL allocations would be made during the financial year 2018/19, due to identified 
potential infrastructure project plans not being sufficiently advanced. However, this 
situation will be kept under review.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18 Target Note

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Overall business birth rate 740
Not 

measured for 
Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  The Business Demography data set refers to new business registrations as 

business births. Latest available figures show that there were 740 business births 



2

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18 Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

in 2016 which is up 0.68% from the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the 
business birth rate in 2016 was 8,730. This is an annual indicator and the next 
update for 2017 is due at the end of November 2018.

Overall business death rate 495
Not 

measured for 
Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to businesses that have ceased to 
trade (identified through de-registration of the administrative units, that is, VAT and 
PAYE) as business deaths. Latest available figures show that there were 495 
business deaths in 2016, which is up 25.31% from the previous year. In Kent 
overall (KCC area), the business death rate in 2016 was 7,325. This is an annual 
indicator and the next update is due at the end of November 2018.

District wide 
unemployment rate 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.1% 1.1%  

There were 770 unemployed people in the Borough in December 2017, which 
represents an unemployment rate of 1.1%. There has been no change in the 
number of unemployed people and the unemployment rate since the previous 
month. In Kent overall (KCC area), the unemployment rate in December 2017 was 
1.8%.

Total monthly Town Centre 
footfall 6,226,617 1,816,413 1,993,454 1,455,695 5,265,562  Town Centre footfall has remained generally stable over the last 12 months but 

has seen a gradual decline in the last 3 years.

Number of new homes 
completed (April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
 

For the second year running, there has been a consistently high delivery level of 
around 1,000 homes, following the previous 9 year period which averaged 477 
new homes per annum. Following the slow delivery in the recession and post-
recession years, these higher levels of delivery are putting the Council back on 
track to achieve the Core Strategy targets.

The highest number of homes were delivered at the Northern Gateway (272 
homes), and at The Bridge (243 homes), as well as St Clements Lakes (176 
homes).

There were 214 homes delivered in the EDC area of Dartford, on the Eastern 
Quarry and Ebbsfleet Green sites, comprising 18% of delivery in Dartford as a 
whole. Delivery levels in the EDC area are expected to increase as construction 
activity on these two large sites gets into full swing.

The outlook for next year’s delivery looks positive, with the large sites continuing to 
deliver, a very healthy pipeline of sites with planning consent and an expected 
uplift of delivery in the EDC area.   High delivery levels are likely to be sustained 
into the future, barring major and unexpected economic circumstances, with build 
on some very large sites set to continue for a number of years into the future.



3

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Total Fairfield 
Centre Visits

459,270 133,341 130,179 110,826 374,346  

Over the summer months we started to see Fairfield usage slowing down to 
become more stable in usages and membership growth in the last three months of 
2017. Membership has started to fall seeing membership drop from 3,261 to 3,118 
there are a few factors for this: time of the year membership slows down heading 
towards Christmas, the current climate of the general public being more reserved 
on their spend.  

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Average Number 
of Park Run Users

146 157 161 162 160  
The attendance figures remain steady, despite some of the runs being threatened 
with cancellation due to adverse and icy weather conditions. This event continues 
to attract volunteers to help and new runners to join in.

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Average Number 
of Junior Park Run Users

37 35 36 35 35  This event is maintaining its attendance figures during the colder winter months.

Usage of DBC Sports 
Facilities: Princes Park 
Mini Pitch Users

179 45 37 56 138  
Income for this quarter is due to all the regular teams coming into the main part of 
their season, only stopping over the Christmas period and grass pitches becoming 
unplayable sometimes due to weather.

Percentage attendance at 
the Orchard Theatre (% of 
total seats available which 
are used)

61.33% 49% 54.67% 72.67% 58.78%  
Actual attendance figures are down, but the percentages remain the same as 
quarter 3 in 2016/17 due to the fact that some smaller audience events have been 
staged in the Auditorium and Restaurant. 

Number of local groups 
supported through 
Community Grant and 
other grant schemes

34 4 5 22 31  

In quarter 3 there were 4 grants awarded under the DBC Community Fund and 1 
organisation was awarded a grant under the Salute to Youth Scheme. The 
Community Grant for 2017/18 was launched in October and awarded grants to 17 
organisations.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Life expectancy gap for 
men

Latest value 
is for 2013-

Not 
measured for 

Not 
measured for 

Not 
measured for  Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that the life expectancy gap is 9.4 years 

lower for men in the most deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 



4

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

15 – see 
note

Quarters Quarters Quarters N/A areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 7.7 years lower for men. This 
is an annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Life expectancy gap for 
women

Latest value 
is for 2013-
15 – see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters N/A
 

Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that the life expectancy gap is 4.5 years 
lower for women in the most deprived areas of Dartford than in the least deprived 
areas. In Kent overall (KCC area) life expectancy is 4.4 years lower for women. 
This is an annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Percentage of obese 
children in Year 6

Latest value 
is for 2015-
16 – see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2015-16 show that 21.1% of children in Year 6 (10-11 
year olds) were classified as obese in the Borough. This is higher than the 
previous year where 19.6% of children in Year 6 were classified as obese. In Kent 
overall (KCC area) for 2015-16, the figure is 18.7%. This is an annual indicator 
and the next update is due in 2018.

Percentage of adults 
achieving at least 150 
minutes of physical 
exercise per week

Latest value 
is for 2015-
16  - see 
note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2015-16 show that 63.1% of adults were physically 
active in the Borough. This indicator is defined as the percentage of adults (aged 
19+) that meet Chief Medical Officer recommendations for physical activity (150+ 
moderate intensity equivalent minutes per week). This indicator is a replacement 
for the previous indicator reporting the number of adults (aged 16+) achieving at 
least 150 minutes of  physical activity per week. A new indicator was required as 
the source data for the superseded indicator has been discontinued (the Sport 
England Active People Survey has been replaced by the Active Lives Survey). 
Due to the change in methodology and the age range, this indicator cannot be 
compared to the previous indicator.

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Total number of arrests 
instigated by CCTV this 
month

72 16 19 18 53  Outcomes have remained generally consistent over the last year.

Total number of arrests 
supported by CCTV this 
month

59 9 15 25 49  Outcomes have remained generally consistent over the last year.

Number of businesses 
supporting Dartford Town 209 97 108 115 320  The Dartford Town Against Crime (DTAC) scheme is recognised as being one of 

the best business crime partnerships in the country. Membership has remained 



5

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Against Crime (DTAC) stable which is impressive given the pressure on SME's and the sustainability of 
Town Centres. 

Number of Dartford Town 
Against Crime (DTAC) 
interventions against 
persistent offenders

22 2 4 5 11  

This is now part of the Community Protection Warning Scheme and is working well 
with both Police and DBC Community Safety Officers administering appropriate 
warning letters and actions against people who are not welcome in the town. Also 
Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN's) are expected to be issued to offenders who have 
breached the new Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) in the Town Centre and 
central park areas.

Number of Community 
Protection Warnings 
issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

104 84 110 298  
This process has been going well since its inception last year. Warnings have 
been consistently issued by Environmental Health, Housing and Community 
Safety Officers at Dartford Borough Council as well as our Police partners.

Number of Community 
Protection Notices issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

26 10 10 46  
This process has been going well since its inception last year. Notices have been 
consistently issued by Environmental Health, Housing and Community Safety 
Officers at Dartford Borough Council as well as our Police partners.

Number of Public Space 
Protection Order 
Enforcement Notices 
issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18 N/A N/A N/A N/A  

This is a new scheme (December 2017) so it is no surprise that no FPN's have 
been issued to date. There have, however, been several warnings given by 
Community Safety Officers and Police in accordance with legislative guidance.

Number of Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements 
issued

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

4 10 4 18  This is an exclusively Police matter, therefore it will no longer be reported on via 
the Council’s performance management system. 

Percentage of High risk 
(categories A & B) food 
hygiene inspections due 
and completed 
(cumulative)

100% 63.64% 81.82% 96.43% 96.43% 100% 96% 27 inspections out of the 28 due. One could not be accessed. Inspected in 
next month.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of reported anti-
social behaviour incidents 
in the Borough by the 
Police

2,982 666 575 506 1,747  Anti-social behaviour has shown a steady increase but, again, comparisons are 
unreliable due to system reporting changes.



6

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Total number of crimes 
reported in the Borough 10,098 2,923 2,980 3,196 9,099  

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home Office crime counting rules, 
(effectively making year on year comparisons impossible) this will no longer be 
reported on via the Council’s performance management system. The difference 
between crimes reported to the Police and statistics gathered by the British Crime 
survey are markedly different.  A full explanation has been submitted to both the 
Dartford Borough Council Community Safety Partnership and Crime and Disorder 
Scrutiny Committee.

Number of criminal 
damage offences reported 
in the Borough

1,652 399 345 397 1,141  

Due to extensive and confusing changes to Home Office crime counting rules, 
(effectively making year on year comparisons impossible) this will no longer be 
reported on via the Council’s performance management system. The difference 
between crimes reported to the Police and statistics gathered by the British Crime 
survey are markedly different.  A full explanation has been submitted to both the 
Dartford Borough Council Community Safety Partnership and Crime and Disorder 
Scrutiny Committee.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

The average results of 
Nitrogen Dioxide levels 
from all automatic air 
quality monitoring stations 
in the Borough 
(micrograms per m2)

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

38.6 37.5 51.4 42.5  
Average measured Nitrogen Dioxide level (unratified) is above the national 
objective level of 40ug/m3. The three Air Quality Stations are located in areas of 
known poor air quality near to pollution sources (traffic).  

Number of households 
taking part in energy 
efficiency initiatives in the 
Borough

571 39 31 100 170  End of year performance likely to exceed 300.

Number of households 
taking part in green bin 
service

6,141 5,640 5,804 5,830 5,758 6,000 We are struggling to increase the number of customers but there will be more 
advertising and promotion in 2018.



7

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Number of flytipping 
incidents 159 591 745 557 1,893 10 Reported value now includes all incidents (not just large ones) so target will need 

to be revised.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 17 9 15 41 10 The number of incidents remains very low.

Percentage of household 
waste going to landfill 1.7% 1.4% 1.1% 1.2% 1.2%  The amount of waste sent to landfill remains very low.

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

No of households on the 
housing register 1,064 1,094 1,110 1,114 1,114  The number of households on the housing register is staying relatively consistent.

No of households living in 
temporary accommodation 107 90 97 99 99  

The number of households in temporary accommodation has held between 90 and 
100 since April and continues to put pressure on GF Expenditure. Moving forward 
the team is continually looking to mitigate impact but there appears to be no 
immediate respite or resolution in sight with the introduction of the Homeless 
Reduction Act on likely to increase the pressure. Changes to the way the homeless 
prevention service is going to be delivered post April 2018 is ongoing but the 
overspend on the TA budget will be significant.

Number of households 
where homelessness has 
been prevented

50 21 19 19 59  The Housing Options team have already prevented more homeless cases in 
2017/18 than we did last year.

Number of service 
requests completed for 
Private Sector Housing

429 64 55 59 178 187 On target to beat the performance for 2016/17.

Percentage of repairs 
completed in time 90.92% 85.16% 85.56% 90.37% 86.95% 98.00%

December 2017 performance up to 94.17% but overall average yearly performance 
will not recover to target levels due to poor performance in the earlier part of the 
year. The ongoing management improvement plan is working. A report on this 
performance indicator is being reported to Scrutiny in early February 2018.

Average time taken to re-let 20.41 21.56 24.04 19.31 21.43 20 December 2017 performance was back on target but due to the issues in the 
summer of a high number of supported housing voids that were difficult to let and 



8

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

local authority housing (in 
calendar days) (EXCL 
major works)

properties that required extensive works the average yearly performance is just 
below the target set. It is anticipated however that the target will be achieved by the 
end of the quarter 4.

Overall Borough Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of affordable 
homes delivered (gross) 239 44 31 30 105 105 January 2018 figure at 105 so now back on target and likely to beat performance in 

2016/17.

Number of new homes 
completed (April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  Refer to page 2 and ‘Number of new homes built’ indicator for commentary.

Number of service 
requests raised for Private 
Sector Housing

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 62 63 61 186  Volumes as expected.

No of private sector vacant 
dwellings that are returned 
into occupation or 
demolished

101 16 47 22 85 75 Above target and exceeded 2016/17 performance.

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

Council Performance Indicators

2016/17 Q1 
2017/18

Q2 
2017/18

Q3 
2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Percentage of in-year 
Business Rates collected

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 31.2% 56.2% 83.9% 83.9% 83.8%
In-year collection rate is currently 0.1% above target at the end of quarter 3. 
Expectation is that this level of performance will remain the same for quarter4/whole 
financial year.

Number of phone calls 
received by the Council 577,329 129,551 131,994 118,545 380,090  

There has been a similar decline to last quarter in telephone contact of just under 
9%, from 130,228 to 118,545, compared to the same quarter of 2016/17.This again 
is likely to be due, in part, to the increase in issues that can be resolved through the 



9

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 

2017/18
Q2 

2017/18
Q3 

2017/18 2017/18
Target Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Status

Dartford Borough Council website.

Percentage of in-year 
Council Tax collected

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 29.4% 56.7% 84% 84% 84.6%

The decrease of 0.6% in the in-year collection rate is primarily down to a significant 
increase in the Tax Base and the consequential increase in collectable debit. Any 
new properties created since April 2017 will have been given instalments up to 
February 2018, and possibly March 2018 as well. This means that despite in-year 
collection being down at the end of quarter 3, the additional income projected to be 
collected in quarter 4 will have a positive impact on the overall in-year collection rate 
at the end of the financial year.

Average number of DBC 
working days lost due to 
short term (<4 weeks) 
illness per employee

4.39 0.58 0.71 1.06 2.35 3.38 There has been a higher level of sickness absence in quarter 3 as expected due to 
seasonal bugs.  Overall sickness absence for the year so far is below target.

Average number of DBC 
working days lost due to 
long term (>4 weeks) 
illness per employee

2.38 0.44 0.9 0.7 2.04 2.25 Overall long term sickness absence for the year is below target.

Percentage of supplier 
payments made within 30 
days of receipt of invoice

99.02% 98.07% 99.43% 99.92% 99.21% 99% This has been a very strong quarter with only 2 late invoices.

Average time taken to 
process a new claim for 
Housing Benefit 
(cumulative)

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 20 21 22 22 23
Performance is currently ahead of target. At the end of quarter 3 in 2016/17, the 
average time taken to process a new claim was 30 days, which is 8 days more than 
the current level of performance.

Rent Collection and 
Arrears Recovery - rents 
collected as a proportion of 
rents owed.

97.67% 92.41% 95.86% 97.66% 97.66% 97% Cumulative total heading towards annual target. Prediction is that the end of 
2017/18 position will exceed target and last year’s performance.

Number of visits to DBC 
website 821,974 214,590 210,431 184,543 609,564  A high number of visits to the planning pages.

 





CABINET
8 MARCH 2018

MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 12 DECEMBER 2017

1. Summary

To present to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview 
Committee held on 12 December 2017.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 
12 December 2017, be considered and noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and 
the Chairman of Policy Overview Committee, has agreed that the most 
appropriate way for the Policy Overview Committee to report its work to 
Cabinet would be for the cleared minutes from each Committee meeting to 
be submitted to the next appropriate Cabinet meeting.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To be an inclusive, well led and managed organisation, with an open and 
positive culture, making the best use of its resources, and recognising the vital 
contribution of all members and staff.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee minutes of 12 December 2017

DOCUMENTS CONSULTED

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

A Stoneham
01322 343330

Member Services
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A





APPENDIX A

1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 12 
December 2017 at 7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor J Burrell (substitute for Councillor A Sandhu, MBE)
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor R Lees
Councillor M A Maddison (substitute for Councillor D Page)
Councillor T A Maddison (substitute for Councillor B K Kaini)
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D J Reynolds (substitute for Councillor P F Coleman)
Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor R J Wells

ABSENT: Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor B Garden
Councillor B K Kaini
Councillor J A Ozog
Councillor D Page
Councillor A Sandhu, MBE

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Patricia Chapman – Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External Services)
Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal Services)
Nick Scott – Head of Revenues and Benefits
Kashmir Powar – Healthy Living Co-ordinator

25. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors P F Coleman, R M 
Currans, B Garden, B K Kaini, J A Ozog, D Page and A Sandhu, MBE.

26. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

2

27. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 19 SEPTEMBER 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 19 
September 2017 be confirmed.

28. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

29. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees.

30. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice, for the period 20 November 
2017 to 31 March 2018, be noted.

31. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 19 SEPTEMBER 2017 

This report asked Members to note the list of action points arising from the 
Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 19 September 2017.

Health Funding in Dartford

Members were advised that a response had yet to be received to the emails 
that had been sent to the NHS Trust and Dartford Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and agreed that they should be chased 
for a response.

Funding for the Minor Ailments Scheme

Members were advised that a response had yet to be received to the letter 
that had been sent to the Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) and agreed that a chasing letter should be sent.

RESOLVED:

1. That the list of action points arising from the Committee meetings held 
on 19 September 2017 be noted.

2. That the NHS Trust and CCG be chased for a response to the letter 
and emails that have been sent.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

3

32. UPDATE ON THE BENEFIT CAP, UNIVERSAL CREDIT AND WELFARE 
REFORMS AFFECTING HOUSING BENEFIT AND COUNCIL TAX 
REDUCTION 

This report provided Members with an update on the Benefit Cap, Universal 
Credit (UC) and Welfare Reforms affecting Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Reduction.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits noted how Dartford was currently in the 
‘live service’ phase of UC implementation and said that this would be followed 
by the ‘full service’ phase, and then a migration phase where existing housing 
benefit claimants would be transferred to UC. He then noted how, following 
the Government’s 2017 Budget announcements, from 31 December 2017 the 
‘live service’ was to be suspended pending the introduction of the ‘full service’ 
and that new applicants would be assessed for housing benefit in the 
meantime. He also noted how ‘full service’ commencement for Dartford had 
been rescheduled from May 2018 to July 2018 and drew Members’ attention 
to the national status and associated impacts documented in the report.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits then referred to other announcements 
that had been made during the Government’s 2017 Budget and the intention 
to ease the financial pressures being placed on new claimants by giving them 
the ability to receive 1 month’s worth of UC within 5 days of an application, 
which then has to be repaid over 12 months rather than 6. He also noted the 
two week overlap of housing benefit and UC payments and the fact that it will 
be easier for claimants to have the housing element of their UC paid directly 
to their landlord, which will help Councils with housing stock as it reduces the 
likelihood of rent arrears.

The Head of Revenues and Benefits then highlighted the issues that had 
been raised by East Kent Services, where the full UC service had already 
gone live, and drew Members’ attention to the ‘digital by default’ concerns that 
had been raised and said that claimants are expected to manage their UC 
account online and use this interface to report rent increases and other 
changes which may impact the amount of UC that they are due to receive. He 
said that this could cause problems for those who have little or no online 
experience. He also referred to Council Tax Reduction (CTR) claims and the 
impact that the need for it to be recalculated every time a claimant’s UC 
entitlement is changed was having on Council Tax recovery. He also noted 
the other issues that had been listed and said that Dartford was part of a UC 
Working Group which met regularly to discuss and share concerns and 
propose solutions.

The Chairman was heartened to hear that a Working Group had been 
established and welcomed the ability for UC claimants to have the housing 
element of their award paid directly to their landlord, an issue that had 
previously been raised and pursued by the Committee. He then asked what 
help was available to those who might find it difficult to manage their claim 
online. The Head of Revenues and Benefits replied that this service would not 
be provided by the Revenues and Benefits team but said that the Council’s 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

4

Housing, Energy and Retraining Options (HERO) team would be able to 
provide support if required.

In response to a question related to staffing levels the Head of Revenues and 
Benefits replied that UC was placing no additional pressure on staff at the 
moment, but anticipated that this might change as the number of claimants 
being transferred to UC ramps up. He noted how the Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP) provided some funding, but was unsure whether this 
would be adequate to also provide the additional local UC related support that 
would be required.

Members further discussed the additional support that may be required as the 
‘full service’ is rolled out and asked whether there was a view on how this 
support was to be delivered and co-ordinated as it was important that those 
experiencing difficulties do not get lost in the system and end up being made 
homeless and thus becoming a responsibility of the Council. The Strategic 
Director (External Services) replied that the Council’s own tenants could ask 
for support from the HERO team but said that others would be signposted to 
agencies such as the Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB). The Chairman noted the 
various forums that exist for landlords and tenants and hoped that these 
forums would be used to disseminate UC related information and advice. The 
Strategic Director (External Services) advised that the Council had no 
overarching responsibility but, if approached, would signpost those requiring 
help with UC or debt management to agencies that can provide assistance. 
The Head of Revenues and Benefits referred to a Revenues and Benefits 
Forum and said that it included representatives from Housing, the CAB and 
other associated agencies and had received presentations from Jobcentre 
managers. He then said that he would confirm that Dartford had 
representation on this Forum and would provide an overview of the Forum’s 
remit. The Chairman asked that this information be circulated to all Committee 
members.

In response to a question on the time taken to reactivate the UC account of a 
claimant who has failed to maintain their account correctly the Head of 
Revenues and Benefits replied that this information would only be known by 
the DWP and said that he was unaware of any associated figures having 
been released. He also commented that the closing of an account under any 
circumstances would be a cause for concern.

Having noted the intention to suspend the ‘live service’ at the end of the year 
Members asked whether the Council would know how many of the claims 
received after 1 January 2018 may have been previous UC claimants. The 
Head of Revenues and Benefits replied that because the Council would 
receive each as a new claim it would not be possible to ascertain how many 
fell into this category.

It was then asked whether there was any information available on the time it 
takes for a claimant to complete the steps that are required prior to formally 
submitting a UC claim (at which point the maximum 6 weeks to payment 
starts). Reference was also made to the process that has to be followed when 
making a claim and the fact that it can be very confusing for someone when 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

5

they are faced with the various forms that have to be filled in and conditions 
that have to be met. It was suggested that there was a need for an overall 
explanation of the process that has to be followed in order for a claim to be 
successful. The Head of Revenues and Benefits replied that statistics relating 
to the time it takes to prepare a claim were unavailable and said that it was 
DWP’s responsibility to provide UC guidance. He also noted how advice that 
had been published on the DWP’s website following the Government’s Budget 
announcement had been incorrect. He said that there was always a risk that 
some of those who are eligible for UC may drop out of the process before an 
award is made.

The relationship between UC and the Council Tax Reduction scheme was 
also discussed and the Head of Revenues and Benefits advised that as the 
number of people in the area on UC at the moment was minimal the potential 
impact on the recovery of Council Tax could not be predicted.

Reference was then made to one of the issues highlighted by East Kent 
Services which related to the increasing cost of temporary accommodation 
and homelessness support, and it was suggested that, following the 
introduction of the Government’s Homelessness Reduction Act, the Council 
should be looking to put further measures in place to prevent homelessness. 
It was also asked whether any modelling had been done to assess the impact 
that UC may have on the numbers of people presenting themselves to the 
Council as homeless. The Head of Revenues and Benefits noted how 
homelessness was managed by another department and confirmed that no 
homelessness related modelling had been carried out. He also noted that the 
extent of the issue that had been raised by East Kent Services had not been 
quantified.

In response to a question the Head of Revenues and Benefits confirmed that 
the support provided by the HERO team included help for those experiencing 
problems with online access. Members referred to the number of people that 
had engaged with the HERO service during the past year and anticipated that 
this would increase as the full UC service is rolled out. The Strategic Director 
(External Services) said that they would be looking to increase the number of 
HERO resources available to address potential homelessness and confirmed 
that funding for the service came from various sources.

Members noted the issues and responsibilities that UC claimants who are in 
work, or are looking for work, may face and said that this category of person 
may also require additional support. It was then noted how Discretionary 
Housing Payments (DHPs) were being used to help those who find 
themselves in financial difficulty and it was questioned whether this funding 
stream could be guaranteed in the future and whether it would be maintained 
at the current level. The Head of Revenues and Benefits replied that DHP 
funding had been increased over a number of years to help Local Authorities 
assist those claimants affected by welfare reform but he could not predict 
whether funding levels were likely to rise or fall in the future.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

6

The Chairman thanked the Head of Revenues and Benefits and, having noted 
that the ‘full’ UC service was due to go live in Dartford in May 2018, invited 
him to return in June 2018 to provide a further update.

RESOLVED:

1. That Mr Scott be thanked for attending the meeting and responding to 
Members’ questions.

2. That the information provided by Mr Scott be noted.

3. That Mr Scott be invited back to provide a further update to the 
Committee at their June 2018 meeting.

33. DARTFORD PREVENTATIVE HEALTH PROJECTS - ANNUAL REPORT 
2016/17 

This report updated the Committee on the results being achieved through the 
running of Preventative Health Projects in the Borough. It also noted how 
these projects were addressing the priorities identified in the Health 
Inequalities Action Plan, for the financial year 2016/17.

Members referred to the funding risk identified in the report and asked how 
the delivery of project outcomes was being monitored. The Healthy Living Co-
ordinator replied that quarterly reports are submitted to Kent Public Health 
and that Key Performance Indicators and targets are defined for areas such 
as family or adult weight management. She then added that current 
performance monitoring showed that services were meeting the targets that 
had been set. The Strategic Director (External Services) also noted how 
project delivery was a collaborative venture and said that any concerns that 
are identified are discussed together in order that they may be addressed.

In response to a further question relating to the budgetary pressures being 
faced by Kent County Council and the potential for reduced Public Health 
funding the Strategic Director (External Services) said that the Council had 
received confirmation that the grant for the Healthy Living Co-ordinator post 
was to continue at least until 31 March 2019, which was for a longer period of 
time than had been specified in previous years. She said that it was good to 
receive this confirmation and would enable existing preventative health 
related initiatives to continue.

The Chairman then referred to the ‘Dartford Today’ notification system and 
said that he hadn’t received any associated emails recently and noted how 
useful the service was to those Councillors who like to involve themselves in 
activities that take place in Dartford. Officers agreed to investigate delivery of 
the service and report back to Members.

Reference was made to the recorded number of attendances at different 
events and it was suggested that it would also be useful to know the number 
of unique attendees, as some people may attend more than once. This would 
enable the reach of a particular initiative to be gauged more accurately. The 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

7

Healthy Living Co-ordinator agreed to add this to future Annual Reports. The 
Chairman also felt that, given the amount of informative information contained 
in the Annual Report, it should be made available to all Members.

Members then asked whether it would be possible to gauge the impact that 
preventative health work has on health inequality. In response the Strategic 
Director (External Services) noted how the Council had a Service Level 
Agreement with Kent Public Health and said that it defined how initiatives 
were to be delivered and took account of the Health Inequality Action Plan. 
With respect to monitoring she said that the impact of preventative health 
work on health inequality would be difficult to measure but said that the 
annual levels of project engagement, and the results being achieved in areas 
where health inequality was known to exist, could be used to indicate whether 
the projects being carried out were likely to address health inequality in the 
long term.

Members felt that it would be useful to see the Health Inequality Action Plan at 
the same time as the Preventative Health Project Annual Report to enable the 
relationship between health inequality and preventative health work to be 
explored. The Strategic Director (External Director) noted how the Committee 
had been provided with a copy of the Health Inequalities Action Plan after its 
last review and said that it was monitored by the Dartford Health Inequalities 
Group. She also agreed to include it as part of the agenda when the 
Preventative Health Project Annual Report is next considered.

Reference was made to the Health and Wellness classes that are held at the 
Fairfield Leisure Centre and the fact that some surgeries charge for the GP 
referral letter that is required in order for someone to take part. In response 
the Healthy Living Co-ordinator confirmed that some surgeries charge for this 
service whereas others do not and said that Public Health had been asked to 
investigate this further. The Chairman asked to be kept informed and offered 
the Committee’s support if further pressure was required to resolve this 
discrepancy.

In response to a question relating to ‘social gradients’ the Healthy Living Co-
ordinator explained that it referred to areas of deprivation and the fact that 
projects are run in those areas in order to try and reduce the health 
inequalities that have been shown to exist when compared with less deprived 
areas of the Borough.

Members thanked officers and welcomed the clear and informative way that 
preventative health related project progress had been reported.

RESOLVED:

1. That Ms Powar be thanked for attending the meeting and responding to 
Members’ questions.

2. That the outcomes and progress that have been made on the Dartford 
Preventative Health Projects for the financial year 2016/17 be noted.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

8

3. That consideration of the Annual Report on Dartford Preventative 
Health Projects 2017/18, together with the associated Health Inequality 
information, be added to the Work Plan for December 2018.

34. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT 

This report described the progress being made with latest set of Corporate 
Plan key actions and performance indicators for quarters 1 and 2 of 2017-18.

The Chairman referred to the food hygiene related indicator and asked how 
the inspection shortfall was being addressed. The Strategic Director (External 
Services) replied that duties had been reallocated across the team so that the 
staff vacancy could be recruited at a lower level. She also noted how the 
original vacancy had been ‘health and safety’ related and that, as this role is 
well remunerated in the private sector, it had been difficult to fill. She also 
advised that, as at the end of November, the inspections due and completed 
indicator had improved to 92%.

Reference was then made to the fly-tipping incident indicator and the 
Strategic Director (External Services) said that this parameter should not have 
a related target because the Council has no control over the number of 
incidents that occur and can only act in a responsive way when required. She 
also then highlighted an associated pilot project that had been started with 
Stone Parish Council, who had purchased a CCTV system which enabled 
them to monitor areas where fly-tipping was known to take place and said that 
any evidence gathered would be analysed by the Council’s enforcement team 
who would progress prosecution if the offender could be identified. She also 
advised that the pilot would run for 6 months and said that, if successful, it 
would be suggested as a way of discouraging fly-tipping to other Parish 
Councils.

The Chairman noted how two other indicators showing an alert status had 
also included a statement on the action being taken to address the underlying 
issues and asked that this practice be extended to all indicators that show an 
alert.

In response to a question on the percentage of repairs completed on time the 
Strategic Director (External Services) advised that the monitoring of urgent 
and non-urgent repairs had been combined into a single indicator because 
they had both previously been monitored against the same target percentage. 
She also referred to the high number of repairs that were being carried out 
and said that urgent repairs would always take priority over non-urgent 
repairs.

Members referred to the bid for funding that had been made to the One Public 
Estates Programme to bring forward plans for a health hub on the former Co-
op site and, having noted that a decision was expected in December 2017, 
asked whether the results of the bid had been announced. The Strategic 
Director (Internal Services) replied that an announcement was expected soon 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

9

and agreed to provide the Committee with an update as soon as the 
information became available.

Reference was made to the ‘boy racer’ problems that were being experienced 
at Crossways Boulevard, Greenhithe and it was suggested that, as similar 
problems exist along Princes Road, a Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) 
should be considered for this area too. The Strategic Director (External 
Services) agreed to take this forward for consideration. 

Members questioned the ‘December 2017’ date quoted in the report for the 
publishing of the OJEU notice for the new waste collection contract as the 
associated exercise to ascertain residents’ preferred service option was still 
taking place. The Strategic Director (External Services) replied that the report 
had been prepared before the scope of the consultation had been agreed and 
said that the date for the publishing of the OJUE notice had since been moved 
to the new year.

Members noted a typographical error at the end of the last sentence of the 
update relating to the need to ‘include community facilities as part of major 
new developments’ where ‘out in place’ should have read ‘put in place’.

In response to a question relating to the ongoing repairs to the Civic Centre 
the Strategic Director (Internal Services) advised that the planned works for 
this year had been included in a report that had been considered by Cabinet 
on the 29 June 2017, and that further works would be scheduled for the next 
financial year.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the key action and performance indicator monitoring 
reports, attached at Appendices A and B to the report, be noted.

35. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

This report set out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.

The Chairman confirmed the following additions, which had been agreed 
during the consideration of previous agenda items:

 Welfare Reform Update – June 2018
 Dartford Preventative Health Projects – Annual Report 2017/18 – 

December 2018
 Dartford Health Inequality Review – December 2018

The Chairman also noted that Andrew Scott Clark, Director for Public Health, 
had been scheduled to attend this meeting and asked, with the Committee’s 
agreement, for his visit to be rescheduled for December 2018 to coincide with 
the next consideration of the Preventative Health projects that are being 
carried out in the Borough.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 12 DECEMBER 2017

10

It was noted that consideration of the fly-tipping and bulk waste collection 
services was scheduled for June 2018 and it was suggested that it might be 
better to consider them earlier given that the scope of the waste collection 
service after June 2019 was currently being reviewed prior to the formal 
tendering of the associated contract. The Strategic Director (External 
Services) said that these services could be considered earlier but advised that 
these aspects of waste management would not impact the scope of the tender 
because the bulk waste collection service is paid for by residents, and fly-tip 
waste removal was a service which sends squads out to deal with each fly-
tipping incident, both of which could be operated in the same way irrespective 
of the contractor that gets chosen.

The Chairman noted the number of items already scheduled for the March 
meeting and said that he would prefer to leave the Work Plan as currently 
specified and undertake a review if another item needed to be rescheduled.

RESOLVED:

That the Work Plan, together with the minuted additions above, be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.23 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN






	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 25 January 2018
	7 Refuse Collection and Street Cleansing Contract 2019 to 2024
	8 Draft Homeless Strategy 2018 - 2023
	1.1 This is a Key Decision as it is significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area of the Borough comprising two or more wards.
	Homeless Strategy APPENDIX A

	9 Response to Consultation on Proposals to Tackle Crime and Poor Performance in the Waste Sector and Introduce a New Fixed Penalty for Waste Duty of Care
	Waste and Crime Consultation APPENDIX A

	10 Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Consultations Response
	Kent Minerals and Waste APPENDIX A

	11 Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates
	12 Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring Report
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX A
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX B

	13 Minutes of the Policy Overview Meeting held on 12 December 2017
	PO Minutes APPENDIX A

	A Write-off of National Non-Domestic Rates - Exempt Appendix A<br/>(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3)



